# DNA REPAIR IN HUMANS

#### Aziz Sancar

Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics, University of North Carolina School of Medicine, Chapel Hill, North Carolina 27599

#### ABSTRACT

DNA repair is an important molecular defense system against agents that cause cancer, degenerative diseases, and aging. Several repair systems in humans protect the genome by repairing modified bases, DNA adducts, crosslinks, and double strand breaks. These repair systems, base excision, nucleotide excision, and recombination, are intimately connected to transcription and to cell cycle checkpoints. In addition, genotoxic stress induces a set of cellular reactions mediated by the p53 tumor suppressor and the Ras oncogene. These genotoxic response reactions may help the cell survive or enter apoptosis. Damage-response reactions may be utilized as targets of anticancer chemotherapy.

#### CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	70
DIRECT REPAIR	71
Photoreactivation	71
Alkyl Transfer	71
BASE EXCISION REPAIR	73
DNA Glycosylases	73
AP Endonuclease	76
Repair Synthesis.	77
Poly (ADP-Ribose) Polymerase.	77
NUCLEOTIDE EXCISION REPAIR	77
Excinuclease	78
Repair Synthesis and Ligation	79
POSTREPLICATION REPAIR.	79
CROSSLINK REPAIR	80
DOUBLE-STRAND BREAK REPAIR	80
DNA-PK Genes	81
The XR-1 Gene	81
The XRCC 1 Gene	82
In Vitro Systems for Double-Strand Break Repair	82
TRANSCRIPTION AND REPAIR	82 82

KEY WORDS: repair enzymes, transcription-repair coupling, cell cycle and repair, cellular response to damage, damage and cancer, repair and chemotherapy

Initiation: TFIIH	83 84
CELL CYCLE AND REPAIR Change in Repair Capacity with Cell Cycle Role of p53 in Coupling Cell Cycle to Repair Role of HSSB in Coupling of Cell Cycle to Repair CAK and DNA Repair	86 86 86 87 88
CELLULAR RESPONSE TO GENOTOXIC STRESS. The p53 and Growth Inhibition. The Ras Pathway and Growth Stimulation. DNA Damage and DNA-Dependent Protein Kinase DUN Genes and Ribonucleotide Reductase DNA Damage-Inducible Genes and Proteins.	88 89 90 91 91 92
DNA REPAIR AND CANCER CHEMOTHERAPY Cell Death by DNA Damage Drug Resistance and Increased Repair	92 92 93
MITOCHONDRIAL REPAIR	94
DNA REPAIR AND HUMAN DISEASES Xeroderma Pigmentosum Cockayne's Syndrome and Trichothiodystrophy Ataxia Telangiectasia. Bloom's Syndrome Fanconi's Anemia Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (Lou Gehrig's Disease).	94 94 95 95 95 95
CONCLUSION	96

#### INTRODUCTION

DNA damage from intrinsic and extrinsic agents causes cell death and tissue degeneration, aging, and cancer. Lesions are elminated from DNA by three basic mechanisms: direct reversal, base excision, and nucleotide excision. In direct repair, the chemical bonds that constitute the lesion or link a substituent to DNA are broken. In base excision repair, the abnormal or modified base in DNA is removed by a glycosylase that hydrolyzes the glycosylic bond, the resulting abasic site (AP site) is removed by AP lyase/endonucleases, and the nucleotide is replaced. In nucleotide excision repair, dual incisions are made on either side of the lesion, the damaged nucleotide is released in an oligomer (12–13 nt in prokaryotes and 27–29 nt in eukaryotes), and the resulting gap is filled in and sealed. As a general rule, direct repair has a narrow substrate range, base excision repair eliminates lesions that do not distort the helix, and nucleotide excision repair systems; in particular, the nucleotide excision repair system repairs virtually everything.

The three repair systems have been found in both prokaryotes and eukaryotes. The enzymes performing direct repair and base excision repair are structurally and functionally homologous in the two systems. However, the subunits of the nucleotide excision repair nuclease (excinuclease) in eukaryotes do not share any homology with the prokaryotic system. Within the eukaryote kingdom excinuclease composition and function are conserved in organisms ranging from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* to humans. The yeast repair systems, in all aspects quite similar to those in humans, have been reviewed in detail recently (51, 150) and are not addressed here unless the human counterpart remains ill-defined and there is a need to refer to the yeast system to clarify a particular point. Similarly, the mismatch repair system, which corrects mismatches and not damaged DNA (127), is not reviewed here.

# DIRECT REPAIR

The three known examples of direct repair are spore photoproduct repair, photoreactivation, and alkyl transfer. The first has been found in *B. subtilis* only and is not discussed. The other two repair systems are reviewed briefly.

### Photoreactivation

Photoreactivation is the enzymatic reversal to monomers of pyrimidine cyclobutane dimers (Pyr< >Pyr). The dimers are formed by the ultraviolet component of sunlight and are the major cause of skin cancer (12, 169, 200). Dimers are reversed by photolyase that binds to Pyr< >Pyr in DNA, absorbs a blue-light photon, and splits the cyclobutane ring by electron transfer from the photoexcited FADH<sub>2</sub> at the active site (167). The enzyme is present in many species including nonplacental mammals but not in humans (84, 97, 101), and hence is not discussed further.

# Alkyl Transfer

O<sup>6</sup>-Methylguanine-DNA Methyltransferase (MGMT) is a suicide enzyme that repairs DNA by transferring the methyl group from O<sup>6</sup>-meGua in DNA to a cysteine residue in the enzyme by an irreversible reaction (104, 125, 163). It also repairs other alkylguanines such as O<sup>6</sup>-ethylguanine and O<sup>6</sup>-butylguanine, as well as O<sup>4</sup>-methylthymine at a considerably lower efficiency (218). In the laboratory, these lesions are induced by treatment of cells with synthetic alkylating agents such as MNNG. Under physiological conditions, natural methylating agents such as S-adenosylmethionine are thought to alkylate DNA as a side reaction.

MGMT has been found in all species tested. The human enzyme is a monomeric protein of  $M_r = 21,700$  (125). In contrast, *E. coli* has two MGMTs: Ada and Ogt. The latter is about the same size as the human MGMT and like the human enzyme has a single function. In contrast, the Ada protein ( $M_r = 39,000$ ), which was the first MGMT to be discovered (163), has three functions, methyltransfer from phosphotriesters, methyltransfer from O<sup>6</sup>-meGua, and positive regulation of several genes involved in defense against alkylation

damage. The human enzyme has no regulatory function. It is a simple enzyme with no cofactor, with an active site cysteine in the sequence context of PCHRV that is conserved in all MGMTs. The reaction involves transfer of the alkyl group from DNA to the Cys residue at the active site. However, the active site is buried (128) and only becomes accessible upon conformational change induced by contact with DNA (56).

O<sup>6</sup>-meGua is cytotoxic, mutagenic, and tumorigenic, effects that are ameliorated by MGMT. There are no known human cell lines mutated in the MGMT gene. However, about 20% of human tumor cell strains are sensitive to MNNG and do not have detectable MGMT activity and are said to have Mer<sup>-</sup> (methylation repair minus) phenotype (125). Similarly, transformation of human cells by tumor viruses causes the MGMT-deficient phenotype, referred to as Mex<sup>-</sup> (methylation excision minus) (125). Although these cell lines are not mutated in the MGMT gene, introduction of either the bacterial or the mammalian gene into Mer<sup>-</sup> or Mex<sup>-</sup> cells restores resistance to MNNG, which indicates a cause-and-effect relationship between lack of MGMT activity and sensitivity to alkylating agents (125).

Mer<sup>-</sup>/Mex<sup>-</sup> cells can acquire resistance to MNNG by other mechanisms. In one instance, a human cDNA clone expressing a protein related to the lysosomal lamp2 glyco-protein conferred MNNG resistance to CHO cells without affecting their Mex<sup>-</sup> phenotype (52). In addition, other ill-defined revertants have been described that confer resistance to MNNG without restoring the MGMT activity. One particular class of revertants is particularly interesting. These Mer- (or Mer+) and MNNG-resistant clones are defective in mismatch repair (80, 82). Apparently, in wild-type cells mismatch repair contributes to cytotoxicity by executing a futile mismatch repair cycle: The mismatch repair system recognizes the O<sup>6</sup>-MeG:T mismatch and excises the "T strand"; however, upon repair synthesis the same mismatch occurs with 50% frequency, leading to repeated and futile attempts to repair every mismatch with the eventual consequence of chromosome degradation and death. This phenomenon poses a particular problem in cancer therapy with alkylating agents, because the treatment selects for mismatch-defective clones that are likely to undergo multiple mutations with serious consequences for the host.

MGMT likely plays a significant role in cancer prevention. In a number of cancers the oncogenic mutation resulted from G:C to A:T transition, which may have resulted from alkylation of the G residue (125). Indeed, overexpression of MGMT protects transgenic mice from cancers induced by alkylating agents. In one case, expression of human MGMT in transgenic mice protected them from thymic lymphomas induced by MNU (46). In another case, expression of the *E. coli* ada gene in transgenic mice protected the animals from liver cancers induced by dimethyl- or diethylnitrosamine (133). However, there is

no known disease associated with MGMT mutation. The Mer<sup>-</sup> phenotype appears to be the effect and not the cause of the malignant transformation.

### **BASE EXCISION REPAIR**

Base excision repair works mainly on nonbulky base adducts such as those produced by methylating agents and on oxidized, reduced, or fragmented bases resulting from ionizing radiation and oxidative damage. In base excision repair, the modified, damaged base or base remnant is removed by a DNA glycosylase. The resulting AP-deoxyribose is released by a pair of AP endonucleases that incise 3' (AP lyase) and 5' (AP hydrolase) to the AP site. The missing nucleo-tide is then replaced by a DNA Pol and ligated. There are five well-characterized glycosylases and one major AP endonuclease in humans.

#### DNA Glycosylases

Many DNA glycosylases are also AP lyases that cleave the base-sugar glycosylic bond and the phosphodiester bond 3' to the damaged base in a generally concerted reaction involving a Schiff base intermediate (39).

URACIL-DNA GLYCOSYLASE Uracil in DNA originates either from misincorporation by DNA Pols or from deamination of cytosine. A potent (kcat ~ 600 min<sup>-1</sup> with preference for ssDNA) UNG is present in human cells to cope with the problem. The gene (UNG) has been cloned; it encodes a 34-kDa protein that is processed by cleavage of N-terminal regions to a 26-kDa polypeptide (142). It has no AP lyase activity. This form is functional both in the nucleus and in the mitochondria (182). It has also been reported that the 37-kDa subunit of human glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (123) and a 36-kDa protein with sequence homology to human cyclins A and B (131) have uracil glycosylase activities. However, the specific activities of these proteins are extremely low, and it is doubtful if they function as such in vivo. Interestingly, a number of pox viruses, including HSV1, HSV2, and varicella zoster, encode their own uracil-DNA glycosylases (170), indicative of the significance of this enzyme for DNA maintenance. The structure of HSV-1 UNG indicates that uracil flips out of the duplex to fit into the uracil-binding pocket of the enzyme (170). This action mechanism explains the preference of UNG for ssDNA. There are no known human diseases associated with uracil glycosylase defect. Yeast mutants lacking the enzyme have a 20-fold increase in the rate of spontaneous mutation, which is explainable by failure to remove uracil in DNA generated by cytosine deamination (75).

HYDROXYMETHYLURACIL DNA GLYCOSYLASE Hydroxymethyluracil DNA glycosylase (HmUra) is formed by oxidation of the methyl group of thymine

#### 74 SANCAR

or the deamination of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine. It is found in human and rat urine and is taken to be a measure of oxidative DNA damage in these organisms. The lesion is removed by a specific glycosylase that has been partially purified from mouse plasmacytoma cells. The enzyme has been found in all vertebrate cells but not in prokaryotes, presumably because prokaryotes do not have a high fraction of their cytosine residues in the 5-methylcytosine form (8). The enzyme is specific for HmUra and apparently does not have an AP lyase activity. Interestingly, this enzyme works with equal efficiency on ssDNA and dsDNA, in contrast to UNG, which prefers ssDNA, and other glycosylases, which prefer dsDNA.

THYMINE GLYCOL DNA GLYCOSYLASE The prototype of enzymes that remove saturated, oxidized, and fragmented thymines is the *E. coli* endonuclease III (31), although this enzyme and its mammalian functional homolog have been isolated under a variety of names that reflect either the damaging source (X-ray endonuclease,  $\gamma$ -ray endonuclease, UV endonuclease, redoxyendonuclease) or the damage (thymine glycol, urea, AP site). All of the damaging agents including UV (40) generate monomeric base damage of pyrimidines at relatively high frequency: 5,6-dihydrothymine (thymine glycol), methyltartronylurea, urea, 5,6-hydroxy-5-methylhydantoin, and 5,6-dihydrocytosine. The enzyme releases all of these lesions by first cleaving the glycosylic bond and then the 3' phosphodiester bond by glycosylase/AP lyase mechanism, which is quite common to DNA glycosylases.

The crystal structure of the *E. coli* endonuclease III has been solved (91). The enzyme is a 27-kDa monomer with a [4Fe-4S] center that is apparently involved in substrate recognition. The human enzyme has not been purified to homogeneity. However, two enzymes purified extensively under the names of UV endonuclease I (43 kDa) and II (28 kDa) from murine plasmacytoma are functional homologs of endonuclease III (88). Both enzymes as well as their human counterparts, like endo III, also cleave AP sites by  $\beta$ -elimination (31). There is no known human disease or animal model associated with thymine glycol glycosylase deficiency.

N-METHYLPURINE DNA GLYCOSYLASE Alkylating agents attack at least 12 nucleophilic sites in DNA (181). The major adducts that form with agents acting by  $S_N2$  mechanism such as dimethylsulphate are 7-alkylguanine and 3-methyladenine. The N7-alkyl group destabilizes the glycosylic bond and leads to rapid uncatalyzed cleavage of this bond, generating an AP site that is processed by AP endonuclease/lyases. As a consequence, this lesion is not highly mutagenic or toxic even in the absence of repair enzymes. In contrast, N3-MeAde is relatively stable and is toxic and mutagenic. Two enzymes that repair N3-MeAde were identified in *E. coli*; these removed 3-MeAde from

DNA and were named 3-MeAde Glycosylase I and II (Tag I and Tag II). The first is highly specific for 3-MeAde, whereas Tag II removes essentially all alkylated purines (165).

In humans there is only one N-methylpurine DNA glycosylase. The gene encodes a 33-kDa protein (125). The mammalian enzyme is functionally homologous to the *E. coli* Tag II with regard to substrate specificity; however, it has no sequence homology to either Tag I or Tag II. Thus, the name N-methylpurine DNA glycosylase is preferred for the human enzyme. However, even this name does not completely define its substrate spectrum. The enzyme removes 8-oxoG, hypoxanthine and 1,N<sup>6</sup>-ethenoadenine at a rate ( $k_{cat} \sim 1 \text{ min}^{-1}$ ) comparable to that of 3-MeAde (4, 42, 159, 168). It does not have an AP lyase activity. *E. coli tag* mutants are extremely sensitive to mutagenic and toxic effects of alkylating agents. There is no known human disease associated with MPG malfunctioning.

8-HYDROXYGUANINE DNA GLYCOSYLASE One of the most abundant lesions induced in DNA by ionizing radiation and oxidative stress is 7,8-dihydro-8-oxoguanine (80xOG) (38). The 80xOG glycosylase was first identified in *E. coli* as an activity that released formamido-pyrimidines (generated as secondary products of alkylated purines) from DNA. The enzyme was named FAPy glycosylase, and the *fpg* gene was cloned (31). Later, it was discovered that this is the major enzyme for eliminating 80xOG from DNA both in *E. coli* (196) and in mammalian cells (5, 93).

This lesion, 80x0G, is an important source of "spontaneous" mutation (58), and the expression of the E. coli fpg gene in mammalian cells protects them against  $\gamma$ -ray mutagenesis (93). This may explain why both in prokaryotes and eukaryotes there are five repair/cleansing systems for excluding it from DNA (58): (a) An 80xodGPTPase (126), a homolog of E. coli MutT protein, sanitizes the nucleotide pool by specifically hydrolyzing 80xodGTP and preventing its incorporation into DNA. (b) The 80x0G glycosylase removes the base from DNA (5, 196). (c) MPG removes 8-0xoG by glycosylase action (4). (d) A glycosylase, MutY in E. coli (58) and MYH in humans (121), removes the adenine residue from the 80x0G:A mismatch. The 80x0G mispairs with A at high frequency, and although 80x0G:C base pair is a good substrate for 80x0G glycosylase, 80xoG:A base pair is not (196). Hence, the MYH glycosylase helps repair 80x0G lesion indirectly by initiating a mismatch repair reaction that converts 80x0G:A mismatch to 80x0G:C base pair. (e) In addition to these three pathways, human excision nuclease also is expected to remove 80x0G (166) and hence contribute to the repair of this rather important lesion.

The *E. coli* Fpg is a 30-kDa monomer; it has a zinc finger at the DNA binding site (138, 196). The enzyme releases the base by a glycosylase action and then the AP site is released by  $\beta$ - and  $\delta$ -elimination (139). The human enzyme also releases the base and the deoxyribose in a two-step reaction.

However, whether it functions in a manner similar to the *E. coli* enzyme is not known; it has been reported that 80x0G in humans is removed by a glycosylase and by an endonuclease (5). Further work is needed to clarify the enzymology in humans.

### AP Endonuclease

AP endonucleases cleave phosphodiester bonds adjacent to AP sites. Class I enzymes cleave the bond 3', and class II enzymes cleave the bond 5' to the abasic sugar (31). All known class I enzymes are glycosylase/AP lyases. The extreme susceptibility of the AP site to be cleaved by  $\beta$ -elimination makes it very difficult to prove that a class I activity associated with a particular protein is physiologically relevant unless there are supporting genetic data. Thus, class II AP endonucleases are the only bona fide AP endonucleases without associated glycosylase activity. In E. coli there are two well-characterized class II AP endonucleases (31): exonuclease III and endonuclease IV. As the name implies, exonuclease III, in addition to AP endonuclease, has a potent  $3' \rightarrow 5'$ exonuclease activity specific for double-stranded DNA. Endonuclease IV is purely a class II AP endonuclease with no other known activity. In eukaryotes, there is a curious dichotomy: Saccharomyces cerevisiae has a major AP endonuclease, Apn1, which is the structural and functional homolog of E. coli endo IV, whereas Drosophila and humans have only one major AP endonuclease, which is the structural and functional homolog of exonuclease III (31).

AP sites are transcriptional and replicational blocks and hence are cytotoxic; they are also highly mutagenic. The AP endonucleases perform two functions: first, they eliminate AP sites generated by glycosylases, or "spontaneous" base loss (especially depurination, which occurs at a relatively high frequency); second, they "trim" the 3' ends of strand breaks generated by reactive oxygen species or ionizing radiation. Such breaks often have 3'-phosphoglycolate or 3'-phosphate. Class II AP endonucleases eliminate these species generating a 3'-OH primer terminus that can be used by DNA polymerase.

The human AP endonuclease (APE, HAP1, APEX, REF1) is a 36-kDa monomer. It has a high degree of sequence identity with *E. coli* exonuclease III. Functionally, it is also similar to exonuclease III in that in addition to its 5' AP endonuclease activity it has a double-strand specific  $3' \rightarrow 5'$  exonuclease (31). However, the exonuclease activity is rather weak compared to that of the bacterial enzyme. The human enzyme has an additional function: It reduces and thus activates the transcription factors Fos and Jun through a cysteine residue in the N-terminal half of APE, hence the name reducing factor 1, Ref 1 (209, 217). The bacterial enzyme cannot substitute for this function.

Bacterial and yeast mutants defective in exonuclease III and Apn1, respectively, are very sensitive to ionizing radiation, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, and alkylating agents. There are no known human mutants. Leaky APE minus phenotypes of rat glioma and human HeLa cells have been generated by expressing antisense RNA (143, 210). The transfectants have apparently normal growth characteristics but are sensitive to killing by alkylating agents,  $H_2O_2$ , and to killing by either hypoxia or hyperoxia.

### Repair Synthesis

Lesions repaired by base excision produce 3–4 nt patches in vivo (155). Work conducted in vitro with model substrates indicates that Pol $\beta$  is better suited for filling in small gaps than the other two nuclear DNA Pols (151). Recent studies in yeast (213) and *Xenopus laevis* (117) in vitro systems have also implicated Pole and Pol $\delta$ , respectively. It is possible that under physiological conditions both PCNA-independent Pol $\beta$  and PCNA-dependent Pol $\delta$  and Pol $\epsilon$  function in gap filling. However, in a partially purified system from bovine testis nuclear extract, only Pol $\beta$  carried out repair synthesis in base excision initiated by a uracil residue (181), in agreement with in vitro studies with inhibitors (35, 215) and with the finding that Pol $\beta$  is optimally suited for filling in short gaps. The repair patch, perhaps depending on the particular pol, is 1–4 nt in length.

### Poly (ADP-Ribose) Polymerase

This enzyme synthesizes poly (ADP-ribose) from NAD. Its activity is greatly stimulated by DNA nicks and breaks generated by ionizing radiation and alkylating agents (30). The enzyme attaches poly (ADP-ribose) to many nuclear proteins including histones and itself. It has been suggested that the enzyme binds to nicks and prevents access to repair and recombination enzymes (30); upon auto-poly ADP-ribosylation the enzyme dissociates and allows access to the nick. How such an action aids in cell survival is unclear. However, the enzyme promotes survival because the inhibition of the enzyme activity by benzamidine, or its synthesis by antisense RNA, increases the cell's sensitivity to ionizing radiation and alkylating agents (30).

# NUCLEOTIDE EXCISION REPAIR

Nucleotide excision repair (excision repair) is the sole repair system for bulky DNA adducts such as acetylaminofluorene-guanine, cisplatin-guanine, psoralen-thymine adducts, thymine dimers, and 6–4 photoproducts. In addition, all other lesions that are repaired primarily by direct repair or base excision repair are also excised by this repair system. There is no known covalent base modification that is not a substrate for the nucleotide excision repair system (72).

The basic strategy of excision repair is similar in prokaryotes and eukaryotes (116). In both systems, a multisubunit ATP-dependent nuclease (excision nuclease, excinuclease) makes dual incisions, one on either side of the lesion, and excises an oligonucleotide carrying the damage. Both *E. coli* and humans incise the 5th phosphodiester bond 3' to the lesion. On the 5' side, *E. coli* excinuclease incises the 8th and the human excinuclease incises the 24th phosphodiester bond (73, 116). There is some variability in the exact sites of incision depending on the lesion and the sequence context (70, 129); however, as a rule the *E. coli* enzyme excises lesions in 12–13 mers, and the human excinuclease removes the lesions in 24–29 mers (72). In *E. coli* three subunits are necessary and sufficient to carry out the dual incisions. In humans, 16 polypeptides, none of which has any homology to the *E. coli* excinuclease subunits, are required to perform the dual incisions (130). The excised oligomer is then replaced by repair synthesis by DNA Pols and accessory factors.

### Excinuclease

Human excinuclease is the enzymatic activity resulting from the combined actions of 16 polypeptides that exist in the cell either in solitary form or in tightly held complexes. The complementation groups of the human disease xeroderma pigmentosum define seven polypeptides (XPA-XPG). The other subunits were defined by the rodent mutant (ERCC1), which does not correspond to any of the XP groups (51), and by biochemical assays for excision repair (43, 172). The following are the 16 polypeptides: XPA (p31), the general transcription factor, TFIIH [p89/XPB-ERCC3, p80/XPD-ERCC2, p62(TFB1), p44/hssL1, p41/cdk7, p38/cyclinH, and p34)], XPC (p125)-HHRA D23(p58) heterodimer (114), XPF(p112)-ERCC1(p33) heterodimer (152), XPG(p160), and HSSB (p70, p34, p11). In addition to the several rather stable complexes present in the system there are several weaker interactions: XPA binds to HSSB (115), to ERCC1/XPF complex with relatively high affinity (147) through the N-terminus of XPA (98), and to TFIIH with lower affinity (146) through the C-terminal 40 amino acids of XPA. TFIIH binds with moderate affinity to XPC (43) and to XPG (130).

Taking these interaction and the biochemical activities associated with individual subunits into account, the following model has been proposed for the excinuclease function (130, 166). The XPA binds to the damage site and facilitates the entry of HSSB; the XPA/HSSB complex recruits the TFIIH and ERCC1/XPF complexes. The helicase-like activity associated with TFIIH locally unwinds DNA and perhaps kinks and thus primes it for the dual incision. XPA/TFIIH recruits ERCC1/XPF complex, which makes the 5' incision (51, 61, 118), and HSSB/TFIIH recruit XPG, which makes the 3' incision (60, 64, 118, 141, 166). The dual incision is absolutely dependent on ATP hydrolysis (191). In contrast to the bacterial excinuclease where the 3' incision precedes the 5' incision, in human excinuclease the incisions may form in random order (118). There is no evidence that all of the excinuclease subunits exist as a complex (repairosome). In all likelihood some function as molecular match-makers and the preincision complex contains only a few of the 16 polypeptides (70, 166). Following the dual incisions, a subset of the excinuclease subunits remain in the postincision complex (130) such that a single-stranded gap free of protein never exists as a repair intermediate.

#### Repair Synthesis and Ligation

The postincision complex is dissociated by replication/repair synthesis proteins. Repair synthesis requires PCNA and since of the five human DNA Pols (211) only Pol $\delta$  and Pol $\epsilon$  require PCNA, it was proposed that repair synthesis is carried out by Pol $\delta$  and or Pol $\epsilon$  (137, 179). Antibody inhibition studies with cell-free extract suggest that Pol $\delta$  is the repair synthesis enzyme (220). In defined systems, Polô, Polê, and even E. coli PolI can carry out repair synthesis but Pol $\beta$  cannot (JT Reardon, personal communication). In DNA replication, the multisubunit RFC factor acts as a molecular matchmaker for PCNA (140, 164) to load it onto DNA as a polymerase clamp and hence confer processivity to DNA Pol $\delta$  and Pol $\epsilon$ . In repair synthesis, RFC/PCNA appear to have two functions: the dissociation of the postincision complex (137) and the formation of the polymerase clamp for repair synthesis, likely in a manner analogous to the replication function (137, 179). The "gap" is filled in a precise manner without enlargement in either the 3' or the 5' direction (73) and hence the repair patch matches precisely the excision gap. The repair patch is then sealed by any of the four ligases (103), most likely ligase I.

#### POSTREPLICATION REPAIR

Bulky lesions block the progression of the replication fork and generate short DNA fragments. Postreplication repair refers to the molecular processes that enable the cell to complete replication without removing the lesion. Three mechanisms have been proposed (85, 132): translesion synthesis (197), template switching, and recombination. Cells from xeroderma pigmentosum variant (XP-V) exhibit normal excision repair yet are sensitive to UV and defective in postreplication repair. No in vitro model exists for postreplication repair and it is not known which of the three proposed mechanisms accounts for postreplication repair in vivo.

#### CROSSLINK REPAIR

Interstrand crosslinks are caused by a variety of carcinogens and chemotherapeutic agents such as nitrous acid, nitrogen mustard, psoralen, cisplatin, and mitomycin C (180). In E. coli, the repair of interstrand crosslink occurs in three basic steps (165): dual incisions of one strand by (A)BC excinuclease, homologous pairing with a sister duplex mediated by RecA, and finally dual incisions in the second strand by (A)BC excinuclease. Interstrand crosslinks of all of these agents are removed in vivo by mammalian cells (162). Furthermore, it has been reported that human cell-free extracts remove crosslinks induced by psoralen (154) and cisplatin (96). However, no mechanistic details are available at present. Based on mutagenesis studies with psoralen-adducted DNA, it has been proposed that crosslinks are eliminated from human cells by two mechanisms (162). In the error-free mechanism, dual incisions on one strand are followed by strand transfer from the intact duplex and ligation and dual incisions of the second strand followed by release of the crosslink and repair synthesis, in a manner analogous to crosslink repair in E. coli. In error-prone repair, following the dual incisions a DNA Pol fills in the gap by passing the lesion to generate a three-strand intermediate that is then repaired like any other excinuclease substrate. Naturally, all excision repair deficient cell lines but ERCC1 and ERCC4(XPF) mutants in particular are extremely sensitive to crosslinking agents (199). In addition, cell lines from Fanconi's anemia are sensitive to crosslinking agents but are not particularly sensitive to other damage, which is repaired by excision repair.

# DOUBLE-STRAND BREAK REPAIR

Double-strand breaks (dsb) are made under physiological conditions during somatic recombination and perhaps during transposition (102). In addition, they are one of the major products of ionizing radiation (38) and of oxidative stress (31). However, there is a difference between dsb involved in somatic recombination and those generated by ionizing radiation: In somatic recombination one of the recombination events involves signal sequences and hence signal joint formation may be considered a site-specific recombination event. The coding joint formation is more similar to the double-strand break repair both formally and enzymologically, and both are thought to involve enzymes of homologous recombination. Thus not all cells incapable of somatic recombination are defective in dsb repair and, conversely, not all dsb repair mutants are defective in somatic recombination. Thus the RAG1 and RAG2 genes are required for V(D)J recombination but not for dsb repair (53). Conversely, mutations in a number of dsb repair genes are without a detectable effect on somatic recombination. There are two naturally occurring mammalian mutants deficient in repair of dsb: the scid mouse and human ataxia telangiectasia (AT) patients. Cell lines of scid and AT are extremely sensitive to ionizing radiation. Scid mice are also defective in somatic recombination, whereas AT patients are not. Of the many mammalian genes thought to be involved in dsb repair the following are well characterized.

# DNA-PK Genes

DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK) is a heterotrimer consisting of a p450 catalytic subunit and Ku86 and Ku70 regulatory subunits (2). It is a serine/threonine kinase absolutely dependent on free DNA ends. It phosphorylates many cellular proteins including p53 and the p34 subunit of (RPA). However, its physiological target is not known. Ku70 and Ku86 make a heterodimer with DNA end-binding activity that is an important antigen in autoimmune diseases such as scleroderma. Recently, by analyses of rodent mutants sensitive to ionizing radiation (ten complementation groups; 25) the three genes encoding the subunits of DNA-PK have been identified and cloned.

The p86 Ku gene CHO mutants in complementation group 5 are defective in V(D)J recombination and dsb repair and are sensitive to ionizing radiation (9, 54, 183, 195). The Ku86 gene (XRCC5) restores both functions as well as DNA end-binding activity to mutant cell extracts. The predicted p86 Ku protein sequence has no remarkable features. It lacks helicase motifs but in combination with p70 Ku constitutes a  $3' \rightarrow 5'$  helicase (202). Mutants of p86 are defective in both coding and signal joint formation.

THE p70 Ku GENE Recently it was found that the gene encoding p70 Ku complements the rodent sxi-1 mutant, which falls into the complementation group 10 (XRCC10). The gene restores both the somatic recombination and dsb repair defect in mutant cells (94a).

THE p450 DNA-PK GENE Somatic cell genetics revealed that CHO V-3 and mouse *scid* mutants fall into the same complementation group (194) and that all mutants within this complementation group (number 7) are corrected by the gene encoding the p450 subunit of DNA-PK (6, 89, 95). Mutants in DNA-PK p450 subunits are not affected in signal joint formation but are defective in coding joint formation and repair of double-strand breaks.

### The XR-1 Gene

The CHO XR-1 mutants (XRCC4, complementation group 4) are sensitive to ionizing radiation, defective in dsb repair, and fail to form V(D)J coding joints

and signal joints, and thus they are similar to XRCC5 (p86 Ku) mutants (193). The XR-1 gene has not yet been cloned.

# The XRCC1 Gene

This gene corrects the repair defect in CHO-EM9 cells, which are sensitive to alkylating agents and ionizing radiation and have an increased rate of sister chromatid exchange. The gene encodes a 70-kDa protein, which is tightly associated with ligase III, and XRCC1 mutants have a diminished level of ligase III polypeptide (16). The mutants are not defective in V(D)J recombination and the main function of this gene may involve base excision repair rather than double-strand break repair.

# In Vitro Systems for Double-Strand Break Repair

Conceptually, repair of double-strand breaks is simple: the ends are brought together, trimmed, and filled in as necessary to generate 3'-OH and 5'-P termini, and then the two pieces are ligated. However, the presence of ten complementation groups indicates that the process is more complicated. Certainly, recombination proteins are involved in repairing dsb as evidenced by the fact that yeast recombination genes (RAD52 epistasis group) are involved in dsb repair (51, 150). A number of groups have reported in vitro systems capable of dsb repair by homologous recombination (79, 108), and a recombination complex of 550–600 kDa containing at least five polypeptides of  $M_r$  230, 210, 160, 130, and 40 kDa has been extensively purified from calf thymus (79). This fraction, which contains Pole and ligase III, can repair double-strand gaps by a gene conversion-like phenomenon. The reaction is stimulated fourfold by bovine SSB. The relation of this complex to other proteins involved in dsb repair remains to be determined.

# TRANSCRIPTION AND REPAIR

Transcribed sequences are generally believed to be more accessible to repair enzymes because of "loose" chromatin structure (62). However, in addition to this passive connection between the two processes, transcription and repair appear to cross paths at all stages of transcription, i.e. activation, initiation, and elongation.

# Activation: AP-1 and APE/Ref-1

AP-1 and NF-kB are nuclear and cytoplasmic transcription factors, respectively, that are involved in activation of genes involved in cellular proliferation. Both factors are regulated by oxidation status of specific cysteine residues.

AP-1 is a heterodimer of Jun and Fos proto-oncoproteins. The heterodimer

is inactivated in vitro as a result of oxidation of cysteine residues at the DNA binding domains of Jun and Fos. This reaction is reversed by the AP endonuclease (APE) (216). A specific cys residue (C65) in the N-terminal half is responsible for this Ref-1 activity and the C-terminal half carries the APE function (210, 217). There are three possibilities regarding the physiological role of the Ref-1 activity of APE. First, the effect might be a fortuitous in vitro reaction with no in vivo relevance where Jun and Fos are always reduced in the highly reducing nuclear environment. Second, APE may perform the AP endonuclease and Ref-1 functions in vivo independently of one another in a manner similar to other multifunctional enzymes. The third possibility is that APE not only activates AP-1 but through its interaction with Jun and Fos is also recruited to genes regulated by AP-1 and hence is placed in proximity of lesions in these genes, enabling APE to carry out transcription-coupled repair. Indeed, it has been reported that AP sites are repaired preferentially in actively transcribing genes even in the absence of nucleotide excision repair (94). However, the particular genes investigated are not controlled by AP-1, and at this point, transcription-repair coupling via APE transcription activators, though conceptually attractive, is a remote possibility.

NF-kB is a heterodimer (p50/p65) located in the cytoplasm in complex with IkB as an inactive trimer. Oxidative stress activates specific kinases that phosphorylate IkB; this makes it a target for proteolytic degradation and liberation of the NF-kB, which migrates into the nucleus to act on target genes (2, 173). It has been also reported that HIV Tat protein suppresses Mn-SOD production and creates a pro-oxidative condition that ultimately leads to NF-kB activation and tissue necrosis factor transcription and cytotoxicity (214).

#### Initiation: TFIIH

Transcription initiation by human RNA PoIII is accomplished with the aid of seven general transcription factors (26, 219). Of all GTFs the TFIIH is the most elaborate factor. It is made up of seven subunits: p89(XPB), p80(XPD), p62 (yeast TFB1), p44 (yeast SSL1), p41 (cdk7), p38 (cyclin H), and p34. The helicase activities of XPB and XPD help in open complex formation and promoter clearance, and the cdk7/cyclin H (CAK) phosphorylates the CTD of RNA PoIII (159, 176, 190).

The discovery of XPB and XPD in TFIIH led to the eventual realization that the entire TFIIH is a repair factor (43, 44, 171, 172). In addition, yeast strains with mutations in TFB1 (p62) and SSL1 (p44) are also defective in excision repair (51). Some ill-defined syndromes with mild UV sensitivity and non XP-like other symptoms are likely caused by mutations in other TFIIH complementation groups (77, 186).

That TFIIH is both a transcription and repair factor raises the question of

whether this dual function is relevant to coordinating cellular transcription and repair activities and whether TFIIH is directly involved in transcriptionrepair coupling. Several issues must be considered in any attempt to answer these questions. First, TFIIH is required for all nucleotide excision repair, both in transcribed and nontranscribed sequences. Second, TFIIH is recruited to promoters by TFIIE and to the lesion sites in DNA by XPA; TFIIE plays no role in repair (146). Third, transcription from a supercoiled substrate does not depend on TFIIH (219), but excision of damage is absolutely dependent on TFIIH with any type of DNA. Fourth, after promoter clearance TFIIH dissociates from the elongation complex (219), and hence delivery of TFIIH by RNA PoIII to a lesion downstream of the promoter is unlikely. However, a local increase of TFIIH concentration as a result of promoter binding could conceivably lead to enhanced repair of both strands of transcribed genes.

Finally, because TFIIH is required for transcription initiation and for repair, it is conceivable that in a cell under genotoxic stress transcription and repair might compete for TFIIH, causing a reduced rate of transcription initiation. However, although DNA damage causes transcription inhibition there is no convincing evidence that transcription initiation is inhibited by damage. In fact, in UV-irradiated cells transcription recovers at a faster rate than replication because of transcription-repair coupling (116). The latter observation, at face value, would imply that damage in nontranscribed sequences may not compete efficiently with promoters in recruiting TFIIH. Clearly, this issue must be addressed in a well-defined in vitro experimental system before it can be decided whether competition for TFIIH is a factor in the turn-off of RNA synthesis upon DNA damage.

# Elongation: Transcription-Repair Coupling

Transcribed sequences are repaired more rapidly than nontranscribed sequences (7) and lesions in the template (transcribed) strand are repaired at a faster rate than lesions in the coding strand (122). The mechanistic aspects of these phenomena (transcription-repair coupling, TRC) are reasonably well understood in *E. coli* (174). RNA Pol stalls at a lesion and makes it inaccessible to the excinuclease. A transcription-repair coupling factor (TRCF) encoded by the *mfd* gene recognizes the stalled complex and releases the stalled RNA Pol while simultaneously recruiting the UvrA damage-recognition subunit of (A)BC excinuclease. The net result is about tenfold enhancement in the repair rate of lesions in the template strand. Gene and strand-specific repair in humans appear to be similar to that in *E. coli* in outline; however, the mechanistic details are more complex.

Two genes, apparently, are required for coupling transcription to repair and

hence performing a function akin to that accomplished by a single gene (*mfd*) in *E. coli*. Cockayne's syndrome is characterized by lack of preferential repair (205, 206), and cell fusion studies reveal two complementation groups, CSA and CSB. The corresponding CHO genes are ERCC8 and ERCC6 (178, 201). Mutations in either gene eliminate preferential repair. The ERCC6/CSB gene has been cloned. It encodes a 160-kDa protein with helicase motifs but without extensive homology to the *E. coli* TRCF protein (201). Biochemical data on ERCC6/CSB are scant. Existing data are consistent with a model whereby a stalled RNA PoIII is recognized by the CSA/CSB heterodimer, which displaces the stalled complex and recruits the excinuclease subunits XPA and TFIIH to the lesion site (175).

However, there is a theoretical problem with this model. It takes over 20 h to transcribe certain human genes (the dystrophin gene is  $1.6 \times 10^6$  bp) and within this period it is more than likely that the gene would sustain a transcription terminating lesion. Were coupling to occur by release of truncated transcript the cell would never make dystrophin (62). This is an interesting argument but it critically depends on the accuracy of the estimated rate of transcription in vivo and hence would be irrelevant if the actual transcription rate is tenfold faster. Although some controversy exists regarding various points of TRC in humans, the following data are taken to be factual on the phenomenology of preferential repair (44, 62, 175).

(a) TRC occurs only in genes transcribed by RNA PoIII. (b) TRC is observed with any lesion which blocks transcription; these are generally bulky lesions that can only be eliminated by excision repair. (c) Enhanced gene repair is mainly confined to the template strand although there are some reports of a moderate increase in the rate of repair of the coding strand. (d) Mutations in five genes cause Cockayne's syndrome: CSA/ERCC8, CSB/ERCC6, XPB, XPD, and XPG. In CSA and CSB mutants overall genomic repair is normal (152, 206), hence it is assumed that the lack of preferential repair causes the disease, which manifests neuroskeletal abnormalities without increased rate of skin cancer, a hallmark of XP syndrome. Only some of the XP-B, XP-D, and XP-G patients exhibit CS. However, in these cases the residual repair activity is so low as to make it impossible to measure whether the residual repair is strand specific.

Taking into account all of these observations, the following is a reasonable model for TRC in humans. RNA PolII stalls at a lesion, and the stalled complex is recognized by TFIIS (41) and CSA/CSB proteins; TFIIS enables RNA PolII to back up while CSA/CSB complex with the aid of TFIIE recruits XPA and TFIIH to the lesion site that is now accessible; the excinuclease then assembles at this site, and the dual incisions and repair synthesis restore a lesion-free duplex that can now serve as a template for RNA PolII to elongate the truncated transcript. The main difference between this model and the prokaryotic model

is that in E. coli the truncated transcript is discarded, whereas in humans it is reused.

Transcription-coupled repair is not essential for cell survival. *E. coli* (174), yeast (204), and human (206) mutants lacking TRC are only moderately sensitive to genotoxic agents and have about tenfold increase in induced mutation rate. An important function of TRCF may be to remove protein roadblocks (such as stalled RNA Pol, or specific DNA binding protein at their target sequences) from the path of the replication fork (175). RNA PolII stalled at these roadblocks is likely removed by a family of proteins of which TFIIS and ERCC6 are but two examples. Some of these elongation factors such as ERCC6 may, in addition to clearing the path for replication machinery, have acquired specialized functions such as coupling transcription to repair. The reconstitution of an in vitro transcription/replication/repair system may be necessary to answer these questions.

# CELL CYCLE AND REPAIR

Two critical factors in cell cycle are the integrity of DNA before the cell enters the S phase and the presence of two sets of intact chromosomes before the cell enters mitosis. Hence it would be beneficial if the cell had regulatory mechanisms to stop the cell cycle at the G1/S and G2/M boundaries when the genome contained lesions. A number of studies have concluded that the cell cycle is tightly coupled to excision repair and dsb repair.

# Change in Repair Capacity with Cell Cycle

A number of in vivo studies have failed to yield a consistent pattern of change in excision repair activity with cell cycle. However, the repair of genes expressed in a cell cycle-dependent manner varies in the predicted manner because of TRC (160). There is no evidence of cellcycle-dependent regulation of expression of excision repair genes or change in efficiency of preferential repair (106).

# Role of p53 in Coupling Cell Cycle to Repair

The p53 tumor suppressor is a tetrameric phosphoprotein that is mutated in a large fraction of human cancers (65). It performs its tumor suppressor function, in part, by acting as a transcriptional activator for genes that block the cell cycle at the G1/S boundary. Two of these genes in particular have been implicated in mediating the effect of p53 on excision repair: p21 (cip1, WAF1) and Gadd45.

THE ROLE OF p21 (CIP1/WAF1) This protein is induced by p53 (62), binds to cdk/cyc complexes (cyclin interacting protein), inhibits the activity of cyclindependent kinases (cdk) and thus blocks the cell cycle progression. Recently, it was found that p21 also binds PCNA (49, 100) and inhibits replication, but apparently not excision repair (100). It was suggested that the PCNA-p21 complex was incapable of acting as a polymerase clamp for Polô or Polê but was capable of carrying out its repair function. It was proposed that such a response would help the cell in avoiding the untoward effects of DNA damage by stopping replication until the integrity of DNA was restored by repair. However, more recent studies have shown that p21 inhibits both replication and repair synthesis (223). Whether there is a differential effect to confer a selective advantage in vivo remains to be determined.

Gadd45 AND EXCISION REPAIR Gadd45 is one of many proteins induced by growth arrest and DNA damage (50). The induction of Gadd45 is regulated by p53 and overproduction of this 16-kDa protein causes growth inhibition (17). It was also reported that addition of Gadd45 to cell-free extract (CFE) stimulated excision repair by a factor of 3 (184). However, a subsequent study failed to confirm any effect of Gadd45 either on the excision or resynthesis steps of nucleotide excision repair, and it was concluded that Gadd45 has no function in DNA repair (A Kazantsev & A Sancar, unpublished data).

#### Role of HSSB in Coupling of Cell Cycle to Repair

Human single-stranded DNA binding protein (HSSB, also known as replication protein A, RP-A) is required for DNA replication (74) and excision repair (28, 130) and it interacts with certain transcription factors (99). It is thought to play an important role in all DNA transactions. Indeed, a mutation in the p70 subunit of the yeast HSSB is conditionally lethal and the mutant is defective in replication, recombination, and repair (107). HSSB is a trimeric protein (p70, p34, and p11) and the p34 subunit becomes phosphorylated at the G1/S boundary of the cell cycle (37) and upon DNA damage by ionizing (105) or UV (19) radiation. In vitro studies indicate that cdks and DNA-PK are involved in phosphorylating p34 (144).

Of special significance, UV and ionizing radiation cause rapid phosphorylation of HSSB and cessation of DNA replication (19); furthermore, it was reported that CFE from UV-irradiated cells could not support the replication of SV40 and that addition of unphosphorylated HSSB restored the replication capacity of the extract (19). It was hypothesized that, if phosphorylated HSSB functioned normally in excision repair, damage-induced phosphorylation would enable the cell to repair its DNA before resuming replication. However, later studies revealed that phosphorylation had no effect on HSSB function in replication (15, 67, 144, 145) or repair (145). Thus it appears that HSSB plays no role in coordinating the cell cycle with repair.

#### CAK and DNA Repair

The phosphorylation of p34<sup>cdc2</sup>-cyclin complex at thr161 of p34<sup>cdc2</sup> is necessary for the cell to make the G2-M transition. This phosphorylation is carried out by the cdk-activating kinase, CAK (185). Recent research has revealed that the CAK activity is associated with the cdk7–cyclin H complex (185). This complex is found in two main forms in the cell: either as cdk7–cyclin H heterodimer or as part of TFIIH general transcription and repair factor (159, 176, 190). The significance of these finding vis-á-vis coordinating repair with the cell cycle is unknown. That both cyclin H and CAK activity are constant throughout the cell cycle (185) makes the prospect of cell cycle–dependent control of repair through CAK rather uncertain.

### CELLULAR RESPONSE TO GENOTOXIC STRESS

In *E. coli* there are three well-defined DNA damage response systems: the SOS response (208), adaptive response to alkylating agents (104), and adaptive response to oxidative stress (32). To put the studies on human response reactions to DNA-damaging agents in perspective, it is useful to review the prokaryotic reactions briefly because the results with human cells are often interpreted within the context of the prokaryotic model.

In the SOS response (208) the initiating signal is ssDNA generated by a replication block by bulky DNA lesions such as pyrimidine dimers. The RecA protein binds to these regions, becomes activated as a co-protease, and promotes autocatalytic cleavage of the LexA repressor. Autocleavage of LexA turns on the transcription of genes involved in recombination (*recA*, *recO*), repair (*UvrA*, *UvrB*, *uvrD*), replication (*umuDC*, *dnaQ*, *polB*), and cell division (*sulA*). Cells stop dividing, repair lesions at a faster rate, or bypass them by recombination or translesion synthesis. These events generate two uninterrupted chromosomes that are transmitted to the daughter cells.

In the adaptive response to alkylating agents (104) the Ada protein, a positive regulator, becomes activated by alkylation of Cys69 by transfer of the alkyl (usually methyl) group from a DNA phosphorotriester. Upon activation, Ada turns on genes involved in inactivating the alkylating agent (aidB), and genes that eliminate the lesion by either alkyltransferase (ada) or glycosylase (alkA) action.

The adaptive response to oxidative stress (32) differs from the other two genotoxic response reactions in one important aspect. In the SOS response and adaptation to alkylating agents the signal for the response is DNA damage. In contrast, in the defense responses to oxidative stress the signal is the reactive oxygen species (ROS) itself. There are two distinct responses to oxidative stress: the OxyR regulon and the SoxRS regulon. The OxyR regulon is controlled by the OxyR protein. OxyR acts as a positive regulator for genes encoding proteins that inactivate the ROS such as *katG* (catalase) and *ahpC* (alkylhydroperoxide reductase). OxyR binds upstream of the cognate promoters and upon oxidation of its cys199 residue undergoes a conformational change, resulting in contact with RNA Pol and transcriptional stimulation. The SoxRS regulon consists of a two-component (sensor protein/regulator protein) regulatory system and target genes. SoxR is the sensor of superoxides by virture of an Fe<sub>4</sub>S<sub>4</sub> center. Upon oxidation, it binds to the SoxS promoter and turns the gene on. The SoxS protein, in turn, stimulates transcription of genes encoding proteins that detoxify ROS (MnSOD and Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase) and enzymes that repair DNA (endoIV AP endonuclease).

Considerable research has been conducted on the cellular response to genotoxic agents in human cells; many responses are elicited by agents that damage DNA as by any other external stimulus. However, a critical analysis of the vast literature on the topic leads to the conclusion that human cells do not have an SOS response, an adaptive response to alkylating agents, or an adaptive response to oxidative stress in the sense of a set of coordinated molecular reactions set off by the offending agent and aimed at detoxifying of, or eliminating the damage caused by the genotoxicant. Nevertheless, DNA-damaging agents cause a series of changes in gene expression in human cells, including induction and repression. These changes may be incidental and of no consequence, important for cell survival, or lethal to the cell but beneficial for the survival of the organism. Without attempting to classify these responses in mechanistic or functional terms, the phenomonology is presented below.

#### The p53 and Growth Inhibition

p53 is an important tumor suppressor as evidenced by the fact that nearly 30% of human cancers carry p53 mutations (65). It is a tetrameric phosphoprotein and acts as a transcriptional activator for genes that negatively control cellular growth. p53 is unstable; however, upon DNA damage by UV (111) or ionizing radiation (81) it becomes hyperphosphorylated and stable and blocks the cell cycle at the G1/S border (90). The increased level of p53 has been proposed to aid cell survival by several mechanisms. First, p53 induces the synthesis of p21 (63), which inhibits cdk/cyclin activity by directly binding to these complexes and hence inducing cell cycle arrest at the G1/S border, and thus prevents attempts to replicate damaged DNA. The p53-induced Gadd45 also arrests cell cycle by some unknown mechanism (184) and hence may help genomic stability through Gadd45 induction. The growth inhibitory effect of p53 is well documented.

It has also been suggested that p53 promotes DNA repair by a variety of mechanisms. p53 binds to XPB, suggesting that this may aid repair (212). It

#### 90 SANCAR

was also claimed that the increased amount of Gadd45 stimulates excision repair in vitro by a factor of 3 (184). However, the p53-XPB binding appears to have no effect on repair because neither CFE depleted of p53 nor a defined excision repair system repair better upon supplementing with p53. Similarly, the report on Gadd45 stimulation of excision repair has not been confirmed (A Kazantsev & A Sancar, unpublished data). Finally, p53-deficient mouse cells have UV survival indistinguishable from wild-type cells and excise Pyr-Pyr and (6–4) photoproducts at a rate identical to that of normal cells (76). Clearly, there is no convincing evidence at present that either p53 or p53-induced proteins play any direct role in any repair mechanism.

#### The Ras Pathway and Growth Stimulation

In addition to activating a cell cycle inhibitory response mediated by p53, UV also induces a cell growth stimulatory response mediated by the Ras signaling pathway. This genotoxic response reaction is referred to as "UV response" rather than DNA-damage response because existing data suggest that the initiating signal originates in the membrane and not in DNA (33, 34, 161). The proposed signal transduction pathway is as follows: UV generates ROS in the membrane, which activate growth factor receptors without inducing growth factor release. The phosphorylation of tyr residues of growth factors activates the signal transduction pathway, which goes through  $GFR \rightarrow Src \rightarrow$ Ras  $\rightarrow$  Raf  $\rightarrow$  MAPKK  $\rightarrow$  MAPK  $\rightarrow$  transcription factors, through a series of phosphorylation/dephosphorylation reactions. Of the many target transcription factors Jun, Fos, and NF-kB are perhaps the most important. Jun and Fos are activated by phosphorylation of their activating domains, whereas NF-kB is activated by proteolytic degradation of IkB in the cytoplasm, liberating NF-kB and thus enabling it to enter the nucleus (3). It has been suggested that this response reaction helps the cell survive because if cells are treated with N-acetylcysteine, which scavenges ROS, the Jun-Fos induction is inhibited; similarly, treatment of cells with the tyrosine kinase inhibitor, tyrphostin, makes them more sensitive to UV radiation (33). The UV activation of NF-kB has also been implicated in UV induction of HIV because NF-kB regulates HIV expression (68). In addition to the immediate UV response mediated by Ras and AP-1, there is a delayed response involving the genes of collagenase, metallothionein, and TPA (68). However, the protective effect of this response is not known and even the protective effect of immediate response is only moderate; further studies are needed to resolve the question of its usefulness to the cell. A UV response mediated by Ras2 and affecting the yeast AP-1 homolog GCN4 confers a moderate survival advantage (48). It is conceivable, however, that in humans the UV response represents a cellular signal transduction pathway subverted from its physiological role and is simply a symptom

of a genotoxic stress with no beneficial effects for the cell but with potential beneficial effects for the organism.

#### DNA Damage and DNA-Dependent Protein Kinase

Although both the p53-mediated and Ras-mediated response reactions involve protein phosphorylation, these phosphorylations are mainly part of the signal transduction reaction. In contrast, protein phosphorylation mediated by DNA-PK is hypothesized to directly affect the repair proteins (2, 57). The DNA-PK heterotrimer binds to DNA ends generated by ionizing radiation or by repair of UV damage, and the catalytic p450 subunit becomes phosphorylated and in turn phosphorylates HSSB and p53, which are known or thought to participate in repair directly. Phosphorylation of HSSB has no effect on its activity (145) and there is no evidence that p53 directly participates in repair. However, DNA-PK plays an essential role in dsb repair as evidenced by the hypersensitivity of mutants to ionizing radiation (6).

#### DUN Genes and Ribonucleotide Reductase

Ribonucleotide reductase (RNR) converts rNDPs to dNDPs and hence is an essential enzyme for DNA synthesis. RNR is damage inducible in all organisms tested ranging from E. coli to man (47). Although it has not been demonstrated that induction of RNR aids in cell survival, the inducibility of RNR genes has provided a useful tool in isolating genes in volved in damage response reactions. Several such genes have been identified on the basis of damage uninducibility (DUN) of yeast mutants, and two have been characterized. DUN1 is a Ser/thr kinase and appears to play an important role in cell survival following DNA damage by MMS and UV because mutant cells have increased sensitivity to these agents (222). It does not affect the cell-cycle checkpoints nor does it regulate the RAD3 epistasis group (excision nuclease) genes. DUN1 becomes autophosphorylated upon DNA damage. The signal for phosphorylation is assumed to be single-stranded DNA, and DUN1 is assumed to exert its effect on RNR1 and RNR2 genes by phosphorylating some transcription factors. DUN2 is the large subunit of DNA Pole and appears to function upstream of DUN1 (136). In contrast to Dun1 mutants, Dun2 mutants are defective in both S phase checkpoint and in DUN1 autophosphorylation and hence RNR induction. Mutation analysis suggests that the N-terminal half of Pole has the polymerase active site whereas the C-terminal half contains the S-phase checkpoint domain. It has been proposed that Pole acts as a sensor of DNA damage/replication block and transmits the signal to DUN1. No human homolog of DUN1 has yet been identified and thus it is not known whether human Pole plays a role in damage response reactions.

### DNA Damage-Inducible Genes and Proteins

In addition to the response reactions described above, a number of other genes and proteins are induced by DNA damage. There are about 20 gadd (growth arrest DNA damage) genes defined by relative enrichment of their transcripts following damage (50). Some, such as gadd153, are induced at the transcriptional level and some, such as gadd45 and gadd34, are enriched as a result of increased mRNA stability (78). Similarly, several UV-inducible DNA binding proteins were detected by the "northwestern" hybridization technique (55) and 13 damage-inducible RNA-binding proteins were detected with the HIV-1 TAR element as a probe (17).

Of the repair proteins, the induction of Pol $\beta$  by alkylating agents is well documented (135), and there is evidence that MGMT is induced by MNNG and other damaging agents including UV in certain cell types (92) by an unknown mechanism. A damaged DNA binding protein (DDB) that binds with high affinity to certain lesions such as (6–4) photoproducts but not to *cis-syn*-T<>T or cisplatin adducts (153) is absent in some XP-E patients (22) but present in others (83, 86). DDB is inducible by UV (69) and by cisplatin but it does not bind to cisplatin-damaged DNA nor does its level in the cell correlate with the cisplatin resistance level of the cisplatin-resistant cells (203). Finally, heme oxygenase is strongly induced by near UV and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and there is some evidence that it plays a role in cellular defense as antioxidant (87).

### DNA REPAIR AND CANCER CHEMOTHERAPY

Most anticancer drugs damage DNA. Ionizing radiation, bleomycin, and neocarzinostatin induce double-strand breaks; cisplatin and mitomycin C make bulky adducts and interstrand crosslinks; and BCNU and nitrogen mustard cause nonbulky alkylation products as well as interstrand crosslinks. The susceptibility of cancer cells to chemotherapy is influenced by many factors including cell type, drug uptake and efflux, biotransformation of the drug, translesion replication, and repair capabilities of the cell. From the standpoint of DNA repair two topics are of interest. First, how DNA damage kills cells and second, whether the cell's ability to replicate past lesions or remove the lesion increases in drug-resistant cells.

### Cell Death by DNA Damage

The conventional view of cell death by DNA damage holds that lesions at a level beyond the repair capability of the cell lead either to permanent inhibition of replication or incomplete replication, resulting in gapped duplexes and eventual degradation of DNA and other cellular constituents by nucleases and proteases and other lysosomal enzymes (necrosis). Thus, it was logical to presume that rapidly dividing cancer cells would be more susceptible to killing by agents that damage DNA. However, recent research has revealed that genotoxic agents often kill cancer cells by activating the programmed cell death (apoptosis) response (109, 198). In most cell types, p53 is required to induce apoptosis by inducing many genes including the ICE (interleukin converting enzyme) protease. The Bcl-2 oncoprotein, which apparently generates ROS (187), functions as an antiapoptotic protein. Thus, p53-deficient lymphoid cells are more resistant to killing by a variety of DNA-damaging agents than wild-type cells (188), and Bcl-2 is involved in preventing both p53-dependent and p53-independent apoptosis (188) as well as death by necrosis.

#### Drug Resistance and Increased Repair

Some cancers are intrinsically resistant to anticancer drugs and some are initially sensitive, but a subpopulation of cells that survives the original treatment no longer responds to the same drug. While the intrinsic resistance could be due to many factors, it has been reported that some subclones derived from a human melanoma cell line had increased rate of Pyr Pyr and 6–4 photoproduct excision (66). Most studies with the second type of resistance, i.e. resistance developed after the genotoxic treatment, have been conducted with cisplatin-resistant tumors and cell lines. The main findings may be summarized as follows.

First, in some resistant cell lines both intra- and interstrand crosslinks disappear faster than controls (113, 221). Whether this occurs by excision repair is not known. Experiments with CFE have failed to detect increased excision repair activity (207); however, it has been reported that CFE from a human epithelial cell line transformed with ras oncogene has more than twofold increase in excision repair activity (96). Second, some resistant cell lines perform replicative bypass more efficiently than sensitive cells (112). However, whether this represents a change in the repair or replication machinery or is a manifestation of the cancerous phenotype is still unclear. Third, a number of proteins that bind to damaged DNA have been implicated in resistance (23). Two of these have been well investigated. The DDB protein is increased in certain cisplatin-resistant cell lines (20, 21, 203); however, it does not bind to cisplatin lesions with high specificity and in the in vitro excision assay it has no effect on cisplatin repair. The HMG-domain proteins bind to cisplatin-GG diadduct with high affinity (14, 149) and they do not stimulate, but actually inhibit repair (13, 71). Hence, the significance of HMG domain proteins in resistance is unclear. Finally, an increase in mRNA levels of certain excision repair genes such as ERCC1 (29) in cells from cisplatin-resistant cancer tissue has been reported. However, it is not known if the corresponding proteins are limiting factors in excision repair or if this increase is a simple manifestation of relative disregulation of most genes in cancer cells. Incidentally, increased expression of ERCC1 (11) and methylpurine DNA glycosylase (27) in CHO cells increases their sensitivity to DNA-damaging alkylating agents, indicating that increase in a repair enzyme level does not necessarily result in increased resistance to the lesion repaired by that enzyme.

# MITOCHONDRIAL REPAIR

Oxidative phosphorylation in mitochondrial membrane accounts for about 90% of total cellular oxygen consumption. Furthermore, almost 30% of the electrons entering the electron-transfer system are apparently diverted from their normal path and into the mitochondrial membrane or matrix where they generate ROS. As a result, mitochondrial DNA is exposed to more oxidative damage than nuclear DNA. It has been found that 80x0G is present in mitochondrial DNA at a frequency of ca 10<sup>-4</sup>, compared to a frequency of 10<sup>-5</sup> for nuclear DNA (177). This high frequency of oxidative damage in mitochondrial DNA is thought to play a critical role in aging (1, 177). Mitochondria have thymine glycol glycosylase and APE, which eliminate some of the oxidative base lesions from DNA (45). Similarly, alkylated bases such as O<sup>6</sup>MeGua and methylpurines are repaired by the nuclear enzymes (125). However, there is no nucleotide excision repair in human mitochondria (177).

# DNA REPAIR AND HUMAN DISEASES

Several human hereditary diseases are caused by mutations in DNA repair genes or in genes involved in eliminating ROS.

# Xeroderma Pigmentosum

The disease is caused by a defect in excision repair. It is characterized by photodermatoses including skin cancer at early age, and in some cases neurological abnormalities (24). Of the seven complementation groups, A-G, the A, B, D, and G forms manifest neurological symptoms. In addition to these groups, there is a heterogeneous group called XP variant (XP-V) in which cells have normal excision repair but are defective in the so-called postreplication repair (10). The molecular basis of XP-V is not known.

# Cockayne's Syndrome and Trichothiodystrophy

Cockayne's syndrome is characterized by photosensitivity but in its classic form not by increased cancer rate, and by dwarfism, and mental retardation (134). The classic form is caused by mutations in CSA and CSB genes, which are necessary for TRC. In overlapping forms the patients have mutations in

XPB, XPD, or XPG genes. Since XPB and XPD are subunits of TFIIH, and XPG tightly binds to TFIIH, it is conceivable that in the XP/CS form the residual repair activity is not coupled to transcription and that lack of TRC leads to Cockayne's syndrome, whether the basal excision repair machinery is impaired or not (62).

Trichothiodystrophy (TTD) patients are photosensitive but do not have increased rate of skin cancers, are physically and mentally retarded, and have brittle and sulfur-deficient hair and ichthyosis. The patients fall into three clinical forms corresponding to mutations in three genes. Those with XP-like symptoms have mutations in either the XPB or most commonly the XPD gene; the third complementation group does not manifest photosensitivity and is presumably due to a mutation in a TFIIH subunit other than XPB or XPD (77, 186). It is possible that some of the unclassified patients with TTD and related syndromes have mutations in any of the TFIIH subunits. Presumably, these mutations interfere more with the transcription function of TFIIH than the repair function.

#### Ataxia Telangiectasia

Ataxia Telangiectasia (AT) is an autosomal recessive disease characterized by cerebellar ataxia, high incidence of cancers, and hypersensitivity to ionizing radiation but not to UV (191). It has been reported that heterozygotes have a high incidence of cancer due to exposure to natural and iatrogenic ionizing radiation (192). The genetic basis of AT has recently been elucidated. It appears that a single gene (ATM) that encodes a PI-3-like kinase is mutated in all four complementation groups (224). AT cells manifest IR-resistant DNA synthesis indicating a defect in cell-cycle checkpoints. However, a report that AT gene(s) is necessary for IR-induced elevation of p53 protein (81) has not been confirmed (110).

#### Bloom's Syndrome

Patients with Bloom's syndrome (BS) have moderate photosensitivity and suffer from dwarfism and mental retardation. BS cells have an increased rate of sister chromatid exchange and slow rate of joining of single-strand nicks. Reports of a ligase I defect in BS syndrome have not been confirmed (124, 148). Similarly, claims of defects in uracil glycosylase or SOD have been discarded based on the fact that the chromosome 15, which complements BS, does not carry the genes for these enzymes (120).

#### Fanconi's Anemia

Patients with Fanconi's anemia (FA) manifest aplastic anemia, which is eventually followed by leukemia and death at a young age. FA cells exhibit chromosomal aberrations and are extremely sensitive to crosslinking agent such as psoralen and mitomycin C. There are four complementation groups, FA-A through FA-D. The FAC gene has been cloned; it encodes for a 63-kDa protein; its sequence does not reveal any structural motif (189). Recently, it has been reported that a cyclin-related protein of 7.9 kDa reverses the crosslink-induced permanent S-phase block of group FA-A (36). The significance of this observation is unknown.

# Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (Lou Gehrig's Disease)

The disease is characterized by progressive motor neuron degeneration throughout the nervous system. The familial form is autosomal dominant. Some of the familial forms are associated with missense mutations in Cu/Zn-SOD(157). This finding led to the suggestion that decreased SOD leads to accumulation of superoxide radical and other ROS with catastrophic effects on motor neurons. However, later studies have revealed that the missense mutations found in some amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) families do not alter SOD activity, yet transgenic mice expressing human genes with these mutations develop an ALS-like syndrome, whereas control animal overexpressing wild-type human SOD do not (59, 156). It has been suggested that this gain of function may represent altered specificity of SOD so that it generates other free radicals particularly toxic to motor neurons (54, 158). Whatever the mechanism, clearly ROS metabolism plays an important role in ALS.

# CONCLUSION

For historical reasons the study of DNA damage and repair was initiated and has been conducted for many years by scientists interested in the effects of radiation on biological systems. As a consequence, these topics have been only of peripheral interest to the majority of biological scientists interested in replication, transcription, gene regulation, and cell cycle. In fact DNA damage and repair occur under physiological conditions as part of normal cellular events. Hence, even a reductionist description of cellular processes must necessarily encompass DNA repair. Indeed, an important conceptual breakthrough in molecular biology in recent years has been the realization of the intimate interconnections between basic cellular reactions (cell cycle, replication, transcription, recombination, repair) previously thought to function more or less independently. It is expected that such an integrative approach would lead to a better understanding of the cell and the organism. Such an understanding would help in designing better approaches to cancer treatment and may even help with our long-standing quest for slowing the aging process.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

#### Literature Cited

- Ames BN, Shigenaga MK, Hagen TM. 1993. Oxidants, antioxidants, and the degenerative diseases of aging. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:7915-22
- Anderson CW. 1993. DNA damage and the DNA-activated protein kinase. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 18:433-37
- Anderson MT, Staal FJT, Gitler C, Herzenberg LA, Herzenberg LA. 1994. Separation of oxidant-initiated and redox-regulated steps in the NF-kB signal transduction pathway. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:11527-31
- Bessho T, Roy R, Yamamoto K, Kasai H, Nishimura S, et al. 1993. Repair of 8-hydroxyguanine in DNA by mammalian N-methylpurine DNA glycosylase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:8901-4
- Bessho T, Tano K, Kasai H, Ohtsuka E, Nishimura S. 1993. Evidence for two DNA repair enzymes for 8-hydroxyguanine (7, 8-dihydro-8-oxoguanine) in human cells. J. Biol. Chem. 268:19416– 21
- Blunt T, Finnie NJ, Taccioli GE, Smith GCM, Demengeot J, et al. 1995. Defective DNA-dependent protein kinase activity is linked to V(D)J recombination and DNA repair defects associated with the murine scid mutation. Cell, 80:813– 23
- Bohr VA, Smith CA, Okumoto DS, Hanawalt PC. 1985. DNA repair in an active gene: Removal of pyrimidine dimers from the DHFR gene of CHO cells is much more efficient than in the genome overall. Cell 40:359–69
- Boorstein RJ, Chiu LN, Teebor GW. 1989. Phylogenetic evidence of a role for 5-hydroxymethyluracil-DNA glycosylase in the maintenance of 5-methylcytosine in DNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 17:7653-61
- Boubnor N, Hall KT, Wills Z, Lee SE, He DM. 1995. Complementation of the ionizing radiation sensitivity, DNA end binding, and V(D)J recombination defects of double-strand break repair mutants by the p86 Ku autoantigen. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:890-94
- Boyer JC, Kaufmann WK, Brylawski BP, Cordeiro-Stone M. 1990. Defective post-replication repair in xeroderma pigmentosum variant fibroblasts. *Cancer Res.* 50:2593–98
- Bramson J, Panasci LC. 1993. Effect of ERCCI overexpression on sensitivity of CHO cells to DNA damaging agents. *Cancer Res.* 53:3237-40
- 12. Brash DE, Rudolph JA, Simon JA, Lin

A, McKenna GJ, et al. 1991. A role for sunlight in skin cancer: UV-induced p53 mutations in squamous cell carcinoma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:10124–28

- Brown SJ, Kellett PJ, Lippard SJ. 1993. Ixrl, a yeast protein that binds to platinated DNA and confers sensitivity to cisplatin. Science 261:603-5
- Bruhn SL, Pil PM, Essigmann JM, Housman DE, Lippard SJ. 1992. Isolation and characterization of human cDNA clones encoding a high mobility group box protein that recognizes structural distortions to DNA caused by binding of the anticancer agent cisplatin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89:2307-11
- Brush GS, Anderson CW, Kelly TJ. 1994. The DNA-activated protein kinase is required for the phosphorylation of replication protein A during simian virus 40 DNA replication. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:12520-24
- Caldecott KW, McKeown CK, Tucker JD, Ljungquist S, Thompson LH. 1994. An interaction between the mammalian DNA repair protein XRCCI and DNA ligase III. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14:68–76
- Carrier F, Gatignol A, Hollander MC, Jeang KT, Fornace AJ. 1994. Induction of RNA-binding proteins in mammalian cells by DNA-damaging agents. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:1554–58
- Carrier F, Smith ML, Bae I, Kilpatrick KE, Lansing TJ, et al. 1994. Characterization of human Gadd45, a p53-regulated protein. J. Biol. Chem. 269: 32672-77
- Carty MP, Zernik-Kobak M, McGrath S, Dixon K. 1994. UV light induced DNA synthesis arrest in HeLa cells is associated with changes in phosphorylation of human single-stranded DNAbinding protein. *EMBO J.* 13:2114-23
  Chao CCK, Lee YL, Cheng PW, Lin-
- Chao ČČK, Lee YL, Cheng PW, Lin-Chao S. 1991. Enhanced host cell reactivation of damaged plasmid DNA in HeLa cells resistant to cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II). *Cancer Res.* 51:601– 5
- Chu G, Chang E. 1990. Cisplatin-resistant cells express increased levels of a factor that recognizes damaged DNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87:3324-27
- Chu G, Chang E. 1988. Xeroderma pigmentosum complementation group E cells lack a nuclear factor that binds to damaged DNA. Science 242:564-67
- Chu G. 1994. Cellular responses to cisplatin. J. Biol. Chem. 269:787-90
- 24. Cleaver JE, Kraemer KH. 1989. Xero-

derma pigmentosum. In *The Metabolic* Basis of Inherited Disease, ed. CR Scriver, AL Beaudet, WS Sly, D Valle, 2:2949-71. New York: McGraw-Hill

- Collins AR. 1993. Mutant rodent cell lines sensitive to ultraviolet light, ionizing radiation and cross-linking agents: a comprehensive survey of genetic and biochemical characteristics. *Mutat. Res.* 293:99-118
- Conaway RC, Conaway JW. 1993. General initiation factors for RNA polymerase II. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 62: 161-90
- Coquerelle T, Dosch J, Kaina B. 1983. Overexpression of N-methylpurine-DNA glycosylase in CHO cells renders them more sensitive to the production of chromosomal aberrations by methylating agents—a case of imbalanced DNA repair. *Mutat. Res.* 336:9–17
- Coverley D, Kenny MK, Munn M, Rupp WD, Lane DP, Wood RD. 1991. Requirement for the replication protein SSB in human DNA excision repair. *Nature* 349:538-41
- Dabholkar M, Bostick-Bruton F, Weber C, Bohr VA, Egwuagu C, Reed E. 1992. ERCC1 and ERCC2 expression in malignant tissues from ovarian cancer patients. J. Nat. Cancer Inst. 84:1512-17
- de Murcia G, Menissier de Murcia J. 1994. Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase: a molecular nick-sensor. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 19:172–76
- Demple B, Harrison L. 1994. Repair of oxidative damage to DNA: enzymology and biology. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 63: 915-48
- 32. Demple B. 1991. Regulation of bacterial oxidative stress genes. Annu. Rev. Genet. 25:315-37
- Devary Y, Gottlieb RA, Smeal T, Karin M. 1992. The mammalian ultraviolet response is triggered by activation of Src tyrosine kinases. *Cell* 71:1081-91
- Devary Y, Rosette C, Didonato JA, Karin M. 1993. NF-kB activation by ultraviolet light not dependent on a nuclear signal. *Science* 261:1442-45
- Dianov G, Price A, Lindahl T. 1992. Generation of single-nucleotide repair patches following excision of uracil residues from DNA. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12: 1605–12
- Digweed M, Gunthert U, Schneider R, Seyschab H, Friedl R, Sperling K. 1995. Irreversible repression of DNA synthesis in Fanconi anemia cells is alleviated by the product of a novel cyclin-related gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:305-14
- Din SU, Brill SJ, Fairman MP, Stillman B. 1990. Cell-cycle regulated phospho-

rylation of DNA replication factor A from human and yeast cells. *Genes Dev.* 4:968-77

- Dizdaroglu M. 1992. Measurement of radiation-induced damage to DNA at the molecular level. *Int. J. Radiat. Biol.* 61:175-83
- Dodson ML, Michaels ML, Lloyd RS. 1994. Unified catalytic mechanism for DNA glycosylases. J. Biol. Chem. 269: 32709-12
- Doetsch PW, Zastawny TH, Martin AM, Dizdaroglu M. 1995. Monomeric base damage products from adenine, guanine, and thymine induced by exposure of DNA to ultraviolet radiation. *Biochemistry* 34:737-42
- Donahue BA, Yin S, Taylor JS, Reines D, Hanawalt PC. 1994. Transcript cleavage by RNA polymerase II arrested by a cyclobutane pyrimidine dimer in the DNA template. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:8502-6
- 42. Dosanjh MK, Chenna A, Kim E, Fraenkel-Conrat H, Samson L, Singer B. 1994. All four known cyclic adducts formed in DNA by the vinyl chloride metabolite chloroacetaldehyde are released by a human DNA glycosylase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:1024-28
- Drapkin R, Reardon JT, Ansari A, Huang JC, Zawel, et al. 1994. Dual role of TFIIH in DNA excision repair and in transcription by RNA polymerase II. *Nature* 368:769–72
- Drapkin R, Sancar A, Reinberg D. 1994. Where transcription meets repair. Cell 77:9-12
- Driggers WJ, LeDoux SP, Wilson GL. 1993. Repair of oxidative damage within the mitochondrial DNA of RINr 38 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 268:22042–45
- Dumenco LL, Allay E, Norton K, Gerson SL. 1993. The prevention of thymic lymphomas in transgenic mice by human O<sup>6</sup>-alkylguanine DNA alkyltransferase. Science 259:219–22
- Elledge SJ, Zhou Z, Allen JB, Navas TA. 1993. DNA damage and cell cycle regulation of ribonucleotide reductase. *BioEssays* 15:333–39
- Engelberg D, Klein C, Martinetto H, Struhl K, Karin M. 1994. The UV response involving the Ras signaling pathway and AP-1 transcription factors is conserved between yeast and mammals. *Cell* 77:381-90
- 49. Flores-Rozas H, Kelman Z, Dean FB, Pan Z, Harper JW, et al. 1994. Cdk interacting protein-1 (Cip1, WAF1) directly binds proliferating cell nuclear antigen and inhibits DNA replication catalyzed by DNA polymerase δ holoen-

zyme. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91: 8655-59

- Fornace AJ Jr. 1992. DNA-damage inducible genes in mammalian cells. Annu. Rev. Genet. 26:505-24
- Friedberg EC, Walker GC, Siede W. 1995. DNA Repair and Mutagenesis. Washington, DC: ASM Press
- Fritz G, Dosch J, Thielmann HW, Kaina B. 1993. Molecular and cellular characterization of Mex-/methylation resistant phenotype. J. Biol. Chem. 268:21102–12
- Gellert M. 1992. Molecular analysis of V(D)J recombination. Annu. Rev. Genet. 22:425-46
- Getts RC, Stamato TD. 1994. Absence of a Ku-like DNA end-binding activity in the xrs double-strand DNA repair deficient mutant. J. Biol. Chem. 269: 15981-84
- Glazer PM, Greggio NA, Metherall JE, Summers WC. 1989. UV-induced DNAbinding proteins in human cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86:1163-67
- Goodtzova K, Crone TM, Pegg AE. 1994. Activation of O<sup>6</sup>-alkylguanine-DNA alkyltransferase by DNA. *Biochemistry* 33:8385–90
- Gottlieb T, Jackson SP. 1994. Protein kinases and DNA damage. Trends Biochem. Sci. 19:500-3
- Grollman AP, Moriya M. 1993. Mutagenesis by 8-oxoguanine: an enemy within. Trends Genet. 9:246-49
- Gurney ME, Pu H, Chiu AY, Dal Conto MC, Polchow CY, et al. 1994. Motor neuron degeneration in mice that express a human Cu, Zn superoxide dismutase mutation. Science 264:1772-75
- Habraken Y, Sung P, Prakash L, Prakash S. 1994. A conserved 5' to 3' exonuclease activity in the yeast and human nucleotide excision repair proteins RAD2 and XPG. J. Biol. Chem. 269: 31342-45
- Habraken Y, Sung P, Prakash L, Prakash S. 1994. Holliday junction cleavage by yeast Rad1 protein. *Nature* 371:531-34
- Hanawalt PC. 1994. Transcription-coupled repair and human disease. Science 266: 1457-58
- Harper JW, Adami GR, Wei N, Keyomarsi K, Elledge SJ. 1993. The 21 kDa cdk-interacting protein Cip1 is a potent inhibitor of G1 cyclin-dependent kinases. Cell 75:805-16
- Harrington JJ, Lieber MR. 1994. Functional domains within FEN-1 and RAD2 define a family of structure-specific endonucleases: implications for nucleotide excision repair. *Genes Dev.* 8:1344-55
- 65. Harris CC. 1993. p53: At the crosroads

of molecular carcinogenesis and risk assessment. Science 262:1980-81

- Hatton DH, Mitchell DL, Strickland PT, Johnson RT. 1995. Enhanced photoproduct repair: its role in the DNA damage-resistance phenotype of human malignant melanoma cells. Cancer Res. 55:181-89
- Henricksen LA, Wold MS. 1994, Replication protein A mutants lacking phosphorylation sites for p34<sup>cst2</sup> kinase support DNA replication. J. Biol. Chem. 269:24203–8
- Herrlich P, Rahmsdorf HJ. 1994. Transcriptional and post-transcriptional responses to DNA-damaging agents. Curr. Opin. Cell. Biol. 6:425-31
- Hirschfeld S, Levine AS. Ozato K, Protic M. 1990. A constitutive damagespecific DNA-binding protein is synthesized at higher levels in UV-irradiated primate cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10:2041– 48
- Huang JC, Sancar A. 1994. Determination of minimum size substrate for human excinuclease. J. Biol. Chem. 269: 19034-40
- Huang JC, Zamble DB, Reardon JT, Lippard SJ, Sancar A. 1994. HMG-domain proteins specifically inhibit the repair of the major DNA adduct of the anticancer drug cisplatin by human excision nuclease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91:10394–98
- Huang JC, Hsu DS, Kazantsev A, Sancar A. 1994. Substrate spectrum of human excinuclease: repair of abasic sites, methylated bases, mismatches, and bulky adducts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91:12213-17
- 73. Huang JC, Svoboda DL, Reardon JT, Sancar A. 1992. Human nucleotide excision nuclease removes thymine dimers by hydrolyzing the 22nd phosphodiester bond 5' and the 6th phosphodiester bond 3' to the photodimer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:3664–68
- Hurwitz J, Dean FB, Kwong AD, Lee SH. 1990. The in vitro replication of DNA containing the SV40 origin. J. Biol. Chem. 165:18043–46
- 75. Impellizzeri KJ, Anderson B, Burgers PM. 1991. The spectrum of spontaneous mutations in a Saccharomyces cerevisiae uracil-DNA-glycosylase mutant limits the function of this enzyme to cytosine deamination. J. Bacteriol. 173: 6807-10
- Ishizaki K, Ejima Y, Matsunaga T, Hara R, Sakamoto A, et al. 1994. Increased UV-induced SCEs but normal repair of DNA damage in p53-deficient mouse cells. Int. J. Cancer Res. 58:254-57

- 77. Itoh T, Ono T, Yamaizumi M. 1994. A new UV-sensitive syndrome not belonging to any complementation group of xeroderma pigmentosum or Cockayne syndrome: sibling showing biochemical characteristics of Cockayne syndrome without typical clinical manifestations. *Mutat. Res.* 314:233-48
- Jackman J, Alamo I Jr, Fornace AJ Jr. 1994. Genotoxic stress confers preferential and coordinate messenger RNA stability on the five gadd genes. Cancer Res. 54:5652-62
- Jessberger R, Podust V, Hubscher U, Berg P. 1993. A mammalian protein complex that repairs double-strand breaks and deletions by recombination. J. Biol. Chem. 268:15070-79
- Karran P, Bignami M. 1994. DNA damage tolerance, mismatch repair and genome instability. *BioEssays* 16:833– 39
- Kastan MB, Zhan Q, El-Deiry WS, Carrier F, Jacks T, et al. 1992. A mammalian cell cycle checkpoint pathway utilizing p53 and GADD45 is defective in ataxia-telangiectasia. *Cell* 71:587–97
- Kat A, Thilly WG, Fang WH, Longley M, Li GM, Modrich P. 1993. An alkylation-tolerant, mutator human cell line is deficient in strand-specific mismatch repair. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90: 6424-28
- Kataoka H, Fujiwara Y. 1991. UV-damage-specific DNA-binding protein in xeroderma pigmentosum complementation group E. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 175:1139-43
- 84. Kato T Jr, Todo T, Ayaki H, Ishizaki K, Morita T, et al. 1994. Cloning of a marsupial DNA photolyase gene and the lack of related nucleotide sequences in placental mammals. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22:4119-24
- Kaufman WK. 1989. Pathways of human cell post-replication repair. Carcinogenesis 10:1-11
- Keeney S, Wein H, Linn S. 1992. Biochemical heterogeneity in xeroderma pigmentosum complementation group E. Mutat. Res. 273:49-56
- Keyse SM, Tyrrell RM. 1989. Heme oxygenase is the major 32 kDa stress protein induced in human skin fibroblasts by UVA radiation, hydrogen peroxide, and sodium arsenite. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:99-103
- Kim J, Linn S. 1989. Purification and characterization of UV endonucleases I and II from murine plasmacytoma cells. J. Biol. Chem. 264:2739-45
- Kirchgessner CU, Patil CK, Evans JW, Cuomo CA, Fried LM, et al. 1995.

DNA-dependent kinase (p350) as a candidate gene for the murine Scid defect. *Science* 267:1178-83

- Kuerbitz SJ, Plunkett BS, Walsh WV, Kastan MB. 1992. Wild-type p53 is a cell cycle checkpoint determinant following irradiation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89:7491-95
- Kuo CF, McRee DE, Fisher CL, O'Handley SF, Cunningham RP, Tainer JA. 1992. Atomic structure of the DNA repair [4Fe-4S] enzyme endonuclease III. Science 258:434-40
- Laval F. 1990. Induction of proteins involved in the repair of alkylated bases in mammalian cells by DNA-damaging agents. *Mutat. Res.* 233:211-18
- Laval F. 1994. Expression of the E. coli fpg gene in mammalian cells reduces the mutagenicity of the γ-rays. Nucleic Acids Res. 22:4943-46
- Leadon SA, Cooper PK. 1993. Preferential repair of ionizing radiation-induced damage in the transcribed strand of an active human gene is defective in Cockayne syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:10499-503
- 94a. Lee S, Hendrickson EA. 1995. Evidence for Ku end binding activity in DNA double-strand break (DSB)repair and V(D)J recombination:sexi mutants. J. Cell Biol. Suppl. 21A:328
- Lees-Miller SP, Godboout R, Chan DW, Weinfeld M, Day RS III, et al. 1995. Absence of p350 subunit of DNA-activated protein kinase from a radiosensitive cell line. Science 267:1183-85
- 96. LevyE, Baroche C, Barret JM, Alapetite C, Salles B, et al. 1994. Activated ras oncogene and specifically acquired resistance to cisplatin in human mammary epithelial cells: induction of DNA crosslinks and their repair. Carcinogenesis 15:845-50
- Ley RD. 1993. Photoreactivation in humans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90: 4337
- Li L, Elledge SJ, Peterson CA, Bales ES, Legerski RJ. 1994. Specific association between the human DNA repair proteins XPA and ERCC1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:5012-16
- Li R, Botchan M. 1993. The acidic transcriptional activation domain of VPI6 and p53 bind the cellular RPA and stimulate *in vitro* BPV-1 DNA replication. *Cell* 73:1207-21
- Li R, Waga S. Hannon GJ, Beach D, Stillman B. 1994. Differential effects by the p21 CDK inhibitor on PCNA-dependent DNA replication and repair. *Nature* 371:534-37
- 101. Li YF, Kim ST, Sancar A. 1993. Evi-

dence for lack of photoreactivating enzyme in humans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:4389-93

- Lieber MR. 1991. Site-specific recombination in the immune system. FASEB J. 5:2934-44
- Lindahl T, Barnes DE. 1992. Mammalian DNA ligases. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 61:251-81
- Lindahl T, Sedgwick B, Sekiguchi M, Nakabeppu Y. 1988. Regulation and expression of the adaptive response to alkylating agents. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 57:133-57
- Liu VF, Weaver DT. 1993. The ionizing radiation-induced replication protein A phosphorylation response differs between ataxia telangiectasia and normal human cells. Mol. Cell Biol. 13:7222-31
- Lommel L, Carswell-Crumpton C, Hanawalt, PC. 1995. Preferential repair of the transcribed DNA strand in the DHFR gene throughout the cell cycle in UVirradiated human cells. *Mutat. Res.* 336: 181–92
- Longhese MP, Plevani P, Lucchini G. 1994. Replication factors A is required in vivo for DNA replication, repair, and recombination. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14: 7884-90
- Lopez BS, Bertrand-Mercat P, Corteggiani E, Coppey J. 1992. Structural effect of donor DNA on the initiation of recombination for double strand break repair in human nuclear extracts. Nucleic Acids Res. 20:5167-72
- Lowe SW, Ruley HE, Jacks T, Housman DE. 1993. p53-dependent apoptosis modulates the cytotoxicity of anticancer agents. *Cell* 74:957-67
- Lu X, Lane DP. 1992. Differential induction of transcriptionally active p53 following UV or ionizing radiation: defects in chromosome instability syndromes? Cell 75:765-78
- Maltzman W, Czyzyk L. 1984. UV irradiation stimulates levels of p53 cellular tumor antigen in nontransformed mouse cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 4:1689–94
- 112. Mamenta EL, Poma EE, Kaufmann WK, Delmastro DA, Grady HL, Chaney SG. 1994. Enhanced replicative bypass of platinum-DNA adducts in cisplatin-resistant human ovarian carcinoma cell lines. Cancer Res. 54:3500-5
- 113. Masuda H, Ozols RF, Lai GM, Fojo A, Rothenberg M, Hamilton TC. 1988. Increased DNA repair as a mechanism of acquired resistance to cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II) in human ovarian cancer cell lines. *Cancer Res.* 48:5713– 16
- 114. Masutani C, Sugasawa K, Yanagisawa

J. Sonoyama T, Vi M, et al. 1994. Purification and cloning of a nucleotide excision repair complex involving the xeroderma pigmentosum group C protein and a human homologue of yeast RAD23. *EMBO J.* 13:1831-43

- 115. Matsuda T, Saijo M. Kuraoka, Kobayashi T, Nakatsu Y, et al. 1995. DNA repair protein XPA binds replication protein A(RPA). J. Biol. Chem. 270: 4152-57
- 116. Mayne LV, Lehmann AR. 1982. Failure of RNA synthesis to recover after UV irradiation: an early defect in cells from individuals with Cockayne's syndrome and xeroderma pigmentosum. *Cancer Res.* 42:1473-78
- 117. Matsumoto Y, Kim K, Bogenhagen DF. 1994. Proliferating cell nuclear antigendependent abasic site repair in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes: an alternative pathway of base excision DNA repair. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:6187–97
- 118. Matsunaga T, Mu D, Park CH, Reardon JT, Sancar A. 1995. Human DNA repair excision nuclease: analysis of the roles of the subunits involved in dual incisions and of the order of incision by using anti-XPG and anti-ERCC1 antibodies. J. Biol. Chem. 270:20862-69
- McCord JM. 1994. Mutant mice, Cu, Zn superoxide dismutase and motor neuron degeneration. *Science* 266:1586-87
- McDaniel LD, Schultz RA. 1992. Elevated sister chromatid exchange phenotype of Bloom syndrome cells is complemented by human chromosome 15. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89: 7968-72
- McGoldrick JP, Yeh YC, Solomon M, Essigmann JM, Lu AL. 1995. Characterization of a mammalian homology of the *Escherichia coli* MutY mismatch repair protein. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:989– 96
- 122. Mellon I, Spivak G, Hanawalt PC. 1987. Selective removal of transcriptionblocking DNA damage from the transcribed strand of the mammalian DHFR gene. Cell 51:241-49
- 123. Meyer-Siegler K, Mauro DJ, Seal G, Wurzer J. DeRiel JK, Sirover MA. 1991. A human nuclear uracil DNA glycosylase is the 37-kDa subunit of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. Proc. Nail. Acad. Sci. USA 88:8460-64
- Mezzina M, Nordelli J, Nocentini S, Renaut G, Sarasin A. 1989. DNA ligase activity in human cell lines from normal donors and Bloom's syndrome patients. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 17:3091-106
- 125. Mitra S, Kaina B. 1993. Regulation of repair of alkylation damage in mammal-

ian genomes. Progr. Nucleic Acids Res. Mol. Biol. 44:109–42

- 126. Mo JY, Maki H, Sekiguchi M. 1992. Hydrolytic elimination of a mutagenic nucleotide 8-oxoGTP by human 28-kilodalton protein: sanitation of nucleotide pool. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89: 11021-25
- Modrich P. 1994. Mismatch repair, genetic stability, and cancer. Science 266: 1959–60
- Moore MH, Gulbis JM, Dodson EJ, Demple B, Moody PE. 1994. Crystal structure of a suicidal DNA repair protein: the Ada O<sup>6</sup>-methyl-guanine-DNA methyltransferase from *E. coli. EMBO* J. 13:1495-501
- 129. Mu D, Bertrand-Burggraf E, Huang JC, Fuchs RPP, Sancar A. Human and E. coli excinucleases are affected differently by the sequence context of the acetylaminofluorene-guanine adduct. Nucleic Acids Res. 22:4869-71
- Mu D, Park CH, Matsunaga T, Hsu DS, Reardon JT, Sancar A. 1995. Reconstitution of human DNA repair excision nuclease in a highly defined system. J Biol. Chem. 270:2415-18
- Muller SJ, Caradonna S. 1993. Cell cycle regulation of a human cyclin-like gene encoding uracil DNA glycosylase. J. Biol. Chem. 268:1310-19
- Naegeli H. 1994. Roadblocks and detours during DNA replication: mechanisms of mutagenesis in mammalian cells. *BioEssays* 16:557-64
- Nakatsuru Y, Matsukuma S, Nemoto N, Sugano H. Sekiguchi M, Ishikawa T. 1993. O<sup>6</sup>-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase protects against nitrosamineinduced hepatocarcinogenesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:6468-72
- Nance MA, Berry SA. 1992. Cockayne syndrome: review of 140 cases. Am. J. Med. Genet. 42:68-84
- 135. Narayan S, Beard WA, Wilson SH. 1995. DNA damage-induced transcriptional activation of a human DNA polymerase chimeric promoter: recruitment of preinitiation complex in vitro by ATF/CREB. Biochemistry 34:73-80
- Navas TA, Zhou Z, Elledge SJ. 1995. DNA polymerase links the DNA replication machinery to the S phase checkpoint. *Cell* 80:29-39
- Nichols AF, Sancar A. 1992. Purification of PCNA as a nucleotide excision repair protein. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 20: 2441-46
- 138. O'Connor TR, Graves RJ, de Murcia G, Castaing B, Laval J. 1993. Fpg protein of *Escherichia coli* is a zinc finger protein whose cysteine residues have a

structural and/or functional role. J. Biol. Chem. 268:9063-70

- 139. O'Connor TR, Laval J. 1989. Physical association of the 2,6-diamino-4-hydroxy-5N-formamidopyrimidine-DNA glycosylase of *Escherichia coli* and an activity nicking DNA at apurinic/ apyrimidinic sites. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 86:5222-26
- O'Donnel M, Onrust R, Dean FB, Chen M, Hurwitz J. 1993. Homology in accessory proteins of replicative polymerases—*E. coli* to humans. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 21:1–3
- 141. O'Donovan A, Davies AA, Moggs JA, West SC, Wood RD. 1994. XPG endonuclease makes the 3' incision in human DNA nucleotide excision repair. *Nature* 371:432-35
- 142. Olsen LC, Aasland R, Wittwer CU, Krokan HE, Helland DE. 1989. Molecular cloning of human uracil-DNA glycosylase, a highly conserved DNA repair enzyme. EMBO J. 8;3121-25
- 143. Ono Y, Furuta T, Ohmoto T, Akiyama K, Seki S. 1994. Stable expression in rat glioma cells of sense and antisense nucleic acids to a human multifunctional DNA repair enzyme, APEX nuclease. *Mutat. Res.* 315:55–63
- 144. Pan ZQ, Amin AA, Gibbs E, Niu H, Hurwitz J. 1994. Phosphorylation of the p34 subunit of human single-stranded DNA-binding protein in cyclin A-activated G1 extracts is catalyzed by cdkcylcin A complex and DNA-dependent protein kinase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:8343-47
- 145. Pan ZQ, Park CH, Amin AA, Hurwitz J, Sancar A. 1995. Phosphorylated and unphosphorylated forms of human single-stranded DNA binding protein are equally active in simian virus 40 DNA replication and in nucleotide excision repair. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92: 4636-40
- 146. Park CH, Mu D, Reardon JT, Sancar A. 1995. The general transcription-repair factor TFIIH is recruited to the excision repair complex by the XPA protein independent of the TFIIE transcription factor. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 4896-902
- 147. Park CH, Sancar A. 1994. Formation of a ternary complex between human XPA, ERCC1, and ERCC4 (XPF) excision repair proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91:5017-21
- Petrini JH, Huwiler KG, Weaver DT. 1991. A wild-type DNA ligase I gene is expressed in Bloom's syndrome cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88:7615-19
- 149. Pil PM, Lippard SJ. 1992. Specific bind-

ing of chromosomal protein HMG1 to DNA damaged by the anticancer drug cisplatin. Science 256:234-37

- Prakash S, Sung P, Prakash L. 1993. DNA repair genes and proteins of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Annu. Rev. Genet. 27:33-70
- 151. Randahl H, Elliott GC, Linn S. 1988. DNA repair reactions by purified HeLa DNA polymerases and exonuclease. J. Biol. Chem. 263:12228-34
- 152. Reardon JT, Thompson LH, Sancar A. 1993. Excision repair in man and the molecular basis of xeroderma pigmentosum syndrome. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 58:605-17
- 153. Reardon JT, Nichols AF, Keeney S, Smith CA, Taylor JS, et al. 1993. Comparative analysis of binding of human DDB (XPE) and *E. coli* UvrA damage recognition proteins to the major UV photoproducts: T[c,S]T, T[t,s]T, T[6,4]T and T[Dew]T. J. Biol. Chem. 268: 21301-8
- 154. Reardon JT, Spielmann P, Huang JC, Sastry S, Sancar A, Hearst JE. 1991. Removal of psoralen monoadducts and crosslinks by human cell free extracts. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 18:4623-29
- 155. Regan JD, Setlow RB. 1974. Two forms of repair in the DNA of human cells damaged by chemical carcinogens and mutagens. *Cancer Res.* 34: 3318-25
- 156. Ripps ME, Huntley GW, Hof PR, Morrison JH, Gordon JW. 1995. Transgenic mice expressing an altered murine superoxide dismutase gene provide an animal model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92: 689–93
- 157. Rosen DR, Siddique T, Patterson D, Figlewicz DA, Sapp P, et al. 1993. Mutations in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene are associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature* 362: 59-62
- Rowland LP. 1995. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: human challenge for neuroscience. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92: 1251-53
- 159. Roy R, Adamczewski JP, Seroz T, Vermeulen W, Tassan JP, et al. 1994. The M015 cell cycle kinase is associated with the TFIIH transcription-DNA repair factor. *Cell* 79:1093-101
- 160. Russey G, Boulikas T. 1992. Repair of transcriptionally active and inactive genes during S and G2 phases of the cell cycle. Eur. J. Biochem. 204:267-72
- Sachsenmeier C, Radler-Pohl A, Zinck R, Nordheim A, Herrlich P, Rahmsdorf HJ. 1994. Involvement of growth factor

receptors in the mammalian UVC response. Cell 78:963-72

- Sage E. 1993. Distribution and repair of photolesions in DNA: genetic consequences and the role of sequence context. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 57:163-74
- Samson L. 1992. The suicidal DNA repair methyltransferases of microbes. *Mol. Microbiol.* 6:825-31
- Sancar A, Hearst JE. 1993. Molecular matchmakers. Science 259:1415-20
- Sancar A, Sancar GB. 1988. DNA repair enzymes. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 57:29–67
- Sancar A. 1994. Mechanisms of DNA excision repair. Science 266:1954-56
- Sancar A. 1994. Structure and function of DNA photolyase. Biochemistry 33:2-9
- Saparbaev M, Laval J. 1994. Excision of hypoxanthine from DNA containing dIMP residues by the *Escherichia coli*, yeast, rat, and human alkyl purine DNA glycosylases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:4873-77
- 169. Sato M, Nishigori C, Zghal M, Yagi T, Takebe H. 1993. Ultraviolet-specific mutations in p53 gene in skin tumors in xeroderma pigmentosum patients. Cancer Res. 53:2944-46
- 170. Savva R, McAuley-Hecht K, Brown T, Pearl L. 1995. The structural basis of specific base-excision repair by uracil-DNA glycosylase. *Nature* 373: 487-93
- 171. Schaeffer L, Roy R, Humbert S, Moncolin V, Vermeulen W, et al. 1993. DNA repair helicase: a component of BTF2 (TFIIH) basic transcription factor. *Science* 260:58–63
- 172. Schaeffer L, Moncollin V, Roy R, Staub A, Mezzina M, et al. 1994. The ERCC2/ DNA repair protein is associated with the class II BTF2/TFIIH transcription factor. *EMBO J.* 13:2388–92
- 173. Schmidt KN, Amstad P, Cerutti P, Baeurle PA. 1995. The roles of hydrogen peroxide and superoxide as messengers in the activation of transcription factor NF-kB. Curr. Biol. 2:13-22
- Selby CP, Sancar A. 1993. Molecular mechanism of transcription-repair coupling. Science 260:53-58
- Selby CP, Sancar A. 1994. Transcription-repair coupling and mutation frequency decline. *Microbiol. Rev.* 58: 317-29
- 176. Shiekhattar R, Mermelstein F, Fisher R, Drapkin R, Dynlacht, et al. 1995. Cdkactivating kinase (CAK) complex is a component of human transcription factor IIH. Nature 374:283-87
- Shigenaga MK, Hagen TM, Ames BN. 1994. Oxidative damage and mitochon-

drial decay in aging. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:10771-78

- 178. Shiomi T, Ito T, Yamaizumi M, Wakasugi M, Matsunaga T, et al. 1995. An ERCC8 gene involved in Cockayne's syndrome group A is mapped to human chromosome 5p12-p13.1. In press
- 179. Shivji MKK, Kenny MK, Wood RD. 1992. Proliferating cell nuclear antigen is required for DNA excision repair. *Cell* 69:367–74
- 180. Singer B, Grunberger D. 1983. Molecular Biology of Mutagens and Carcinogens. New York: Plenum
- Singhal RK, Prasad R, Wilson SH. 1995. DNA polymerase conducts the gap-filling step in uracil-initiated base excision repair in a bovine testis nuclear extract. J. Biol. Chem. 270:949-57
- 182. Slupphaug G, Eftedal I, Kavli B, Bharati S, Helle NM, et al. 1995. Properties of a recombinant human uracil-DNA glycosylase from the UNG gene and evidence that UNG encodes the major uracil-DNA glycosylase. *Biochemistry* 34:128-38
- Smider V, Rathmell WK, Leiber MR, Chu G. 1994. Restoration of X-ray resistance and V(D)J recombination in mutant cells by Ku cDNA. Science 266: 288-91
- Smith ML, Chen IT, Zhan Q, Bae I, Chen CY, et al. 1994. Interaction of the p53-regulated protein Gadd45 with proliferating cell nuclear antigen. *Science* 166:1376-80
- Solomon MJ. 1994. The function(s) of CAK, the p34<sup>cdc2</sup>-activating kinase. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 19:496-500
- 186. Stefanini M, Vermeulen W, Weeda G, Giliani S, Nardo T, et al. 1993. A new nucleotide-excision-repair gene associated with the disorder trichothiodystrophy. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 53: 817-21
- Steinman HM. 1995. The Bcl-2 oncoprotein functions as a pro-oxidant. J. Biol. Chem. 270:3487-90
- Strasser A, Harris AW, Jacks T, Cory S. 1994. DNA damage can induce apoptosis in proliferating lymphoid cells via p53-independent mechanisms inhibitable by Bcl-2. *Cell* 79:329–39
- Strathdee CA, Gavish H, Shannon WR, Buchwald M. 1992. Cloning of cDNAs for Fanconi's anemia by functional complementation. *Nature* 356:763-67
- 190. Švejstrup JQ, Wang Z, Feaver W, Wu X, Bushnell DA, et al. 1995. Different forms of TFIIH for transcription and DNA repair: Holo-TFIIH and a nucleotide excision repairosome. *Cell* 80: 21-28

- 191. Svoboda DL, Taylor JS, Hearst JE, Sancar A. 1993. DNA repair by eukaryotic excision nuclease: removal of thymine dimer and psoralen monoadduct by HeLa cell free extract and of thymine dimer by *Xenopus laevis* oocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 268:1931-36
- Swift M, Morrell D, Massey RB, Chase CL. 1991. Incidence of cancer in families with ataxia-telangiectasia. *New Eng. J. Med.* 325:1831–36
- 193. Taccioli GE, Rathbun G, Oltz E, Stamato T, Jeggo PA, Alt FW. 1993. Impairment of V(D)J recombination in double-stranded break repair mutants. *Science* 260:207-10
- 194. Taccioli GE, Cheng HL, Varyhese AJ, Whitmore G, Alt FW. 1994. A DNA repair defect in CHO cells affects V(D)J recombination similarly to the murine scid mutation. J. Biol. Chem. 269:7439-42
- Taccioli GE, Gottlieb TM, Blunt T, Priestley A, Demengest, et al. 1994. Ku80: product of XRCC5 gene and its role in DNA repair and V(D)J recombination. Science 265:1442-45
- Tchou J, Michaels ML, Miller JH, Grollman AP. 1993. Function of the zinc finger in *Escherichia coli* Fpg protein. J. Biol. Chem. 268:26738-44
- 197. Thomas DC, Kunkel TA. 1993. Replication of UV-irradiated DNA in human cell extracts: evidence for mutagenic bypass of pyrimidine dimers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:7744–48
- 198. Thompson CB. 1995. Apoptosis in the pathogenesis and treatment of disease. *Science* 267:1456–62
- 199. Thompson LH, Busch DB, Brookman K, Mooney CL, Glaser DA. 1981. Genetic diversity of UV-sensitive DNA repair mutants of chinese hamster ovary cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78: 3734–37
- Tornaletti S, Pfeiffer GP. 1994. Slow repair of pyrimidine dimers at p53 mutation hotspots in skin cancer. Science 263:1436–38
- Troelstra C, van-Gool A, de Wit J, Vermeulen W, Bootsma D, Hoeijamkers JHJ. 1992. ERCC6, a member of a subfamily of putative helicase, is involved in Cockayne's syndrome and preferential repair of active genes. *Cell* 71:939-53
- 202. Tuteja N, Tuteja R, Ochem A, Taneja P, Huang NW, et al. 1994. Human DNA helicase II: a novel DNA unwinding enzyme identified as the Ku autoantigen. *EMBO J.* 13:4991–5001
- 203. Vaisman A, Chaney SG. 1995. Induction of UV-damage recognition protein

by cisplatin treatment. *Biochemistry* 34: 105-14

- 204. van Gool AJ, Verhage R, Swagemakers SMA, van de Putte P, Brouwer J, et al. 1994. RAD26, the functional S. cerevisiae homolog of the Cockayne syndrome B gene ERCC6. EMBO J. 13: 5361-69
- 205. van Hoffen A, Natarajan AT, Mayne LV, van Zeeland A, Mullenders LHF, Venema J. 1993. Deficient repair of the transcribed strand of active genes in Cockayne's syndrome cells. Nucleic Acids Res. 21:5890-95
- 206. Venema J, Mullenders LHF, Natarajan AT, van Zeeland AA, Mayne LV. 1990. The genetic defect in Cockayne syndrome is associated with a defect in repair of UV-induced DNA damage in transcriptionally active DNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87:4707-11
- Vilpo JA, Vilpo LM, Szymkowski DE, O'Donovan A, Wood RD. 1995. An XPG DNA repair defect causing mutagen hypersensitivity in mouse leukemia L1210 cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15: 290-97
- Walker GC. 1984. Mutagenesis and inducible responses to DNA damage in Escherichia coli. Microbiol. Rev. 48:60– 93
- 209. Walker LJ, Robson CN, Black E, Gillespie D, Hickson ID. 1993. Identification of residues in the human DNA repair enzyme HAP1 (Ref-1) that are essential for redox regulation of Jun DNA binding. Mol. Cell. Biol. 13:5370– 76
- 210. Walker LJ, Craig RB, Harris AL, Hickson ID. 1994. A role for the human DNA repair enzyme HAP1 in cellular protection against DNA damaging agents and hypoxic stress. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22:4884-89
- Wang TSF. 1991. Eukaryotic DNA polymerases. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 60:513-52
- 212. Wang XW, Forrester K, Yeh H. Feitelson MA, Gu JR, Harris CC. 1994. Hepatitis B virus X protein inhibits p53 sequence-specific DNA binding, transcriptional activity, and association with transcription factor ERCCC3. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:2230-34
- Wang Z, Wu X, Friedberg EC. 1993. DNA repair synthesis during base excision repair in vitro is catalyzed by DNA

polymerase  $\varepsilon$  and is influenced by DNA polymerases  $\alpha$  and  $\delta$  in *S. cerevisiae. Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13:1051-58

- Westendorp MO, Shatrov VA, Schulze-Osthoff K, Frank R, Karf M, et al. 1995. HIV-I Tat potentiates TNF-induced NFkB activation and cytotoxicity by altering the cellular redox state. *EMBO J*. 14:546-54
- Wiebauer K, Jiricny J. 1990. Mismatchspecific thymine DNA glycosylase and DNA polymerase β mediate the correction of G•T mispairs in nuclear extracts from human cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 87:5842-45
- Xanthoudakis S, Miao G, Wang F, Pan YCE, Curran T. 1992. Redox activation of Fos-Jun DNA binding activity is mediated by a DNA repair enzyme. *EMBO* J. 11:3323–35
- Xanthoudakis S, Miao GG, Curran T. 1994. The redox and DNA-repair activities of Ref-1 are encoded by nonoverlapping domains. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91:23-27
- Zak P, Lkeibl K, Laval F. 1994. Repair of O<sup>6</sup>-methylguanine and O<sup>4</sup>-methylthymine by the human and rat O<sup>6</sup>methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase. J. Biol. Chem. 269:730-33
- Zawel L, Reinberg D. 1995. Common themes in assembly of eukaryotic transcription complexes. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 64:533-61
- 220. Zeng XR, Jiang Y, Zhang SJ, Hao H, Lee MYWT. 1994. DNA polymerase δ is involved in the cellular response to UV damage in human cells. J. Biol. Chem. 269:13748-51
- Zhen WP, Link CJ, O'Connor PM, Reed E, Parker R, et al. 1992. Increased genespecific repair of interstrand crosslinks in cisplatin-resistant human ovarian cancer cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. 12:3689–98
- 222. Zhou Z, Elledge SJ. 1993. DUNI encodes a protein kinase that controls the DNA damage response in yeast. Cell 75:1119-27
- 223. Pan ZQ, Reardon JT, Li L, Flores-Rozas H, Legerski R, et al. 1995. Inhibition of nucleotide excision repair by the cyclindependent kinase inhibitor p21. J. Biol. Chem. 270. In press
- 224. Savitsky K, Bar-Shira A, Gilad S, Rotman G, Ziv Y, et al. 1995. A single ataxia telangiectasia gene with a product similar to PI-3 kinase. Science 268:1749-53